# THE SEMANTICS OF ENTAILMENT

Ву

Alasdair Ian Fenton Urquhart

M.A., University of Edinburgh, 1967

M.A., University of Pittsburgh, 1969

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

Arts and Sciences in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh
1973

#### **FOREWORD**

I am heavily indebted to several logicians. Professors J. Michael

Dunn and Robert K. Meyer are to be given joint credit for the important counter-example of §6. Section 11 also owes much to Professor Dunn, as it could not have been written without the inspiration given me by his forthcoming paper on Analytic Implication; he also provided the proof of T9. Professor Richard Routley brought to my attention the facts which underly the discussion of semantical extensions in §8. To all three logicians mentioned above I am indebted for the stimulus of their correspondence and conversation. My greatest debts are to my teacher, Professor Alan Ross Anderson and to my teacher and adviser, Professor Nuel D. Belnap, Jr. Most of the ideas developed below have their source either in their published work or in their seminars, lectures and discussions. I would like to express my sincere thanks to both for the inspiration of their writings, the influence of their teaching and their friendly encouragement and advice.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
FORE	WORD	. ii
1.0	INTRODUCTION	. 1
2.0	RELEVANT IMPLICATION	3
	2.1	3
	2.2	6
	2.3	6
	2.4	7
	2.5	8
3.0	GENERALIZATIONS OF RELEVANT IMPLICATION	10
	3.1	10
	3.2	11
	3.3	11
	3.4	11
	3.5	12
	3.6	13
	3.7	14
4.0	TICKET ENTAILMENT	17
	4.1	17
	4.2	17
	4.3	18
	4.4	18
	4.5	19
	4.6	20
5.0	ENTAILMENT	22
	5.1	22

		Page
	5.2	. 22
	5.3	23
	5.4	24
6.0	CONJUNCTION	26
	6.1	26
	6.2	26
7.0	DISJUNCTION	29
	7.1	29
8.0	A GENTZEN SYSTEM	31
	8.1i	31
9.0	NEGATION	36
	9.1	36
10.0	PARADOXES OF IMPLICATION	43
	10.1	43
L1.0	MANY-VALUED LOGICS	47
	11.1	47
	11.2	47
	11.3	48
	11.4	49
	11.5	50
L2.0	ANALYTIC IMPLICATION	52
	12.1	52
	12.2	53
	12.3	56
	12.4	58
	12.5	61
	12.6	. 61

	Page
12.7	61
BIBLIOGRAPHY	62

#### 1.0 INTRODUCTION

The aim of the present study is the semantical analysis of various non-classical theories of implication or entailment: the systems  $E_I$ ,  $R_I$  and related logics, Parry's system of analytic implication and Lukasiewicz's many-valued logics. For a detailed and profound study of the problem of entailment in both its technical and philosophical aspects the reader is referred to the papers of Anderson and Belnap given in the list of references, and to the comprehensive work Anderson and Belnap \*. For background in many-valued logics the reader may consult McCall 1967 and Rescher 1969.

Several of the ideas in the present essay have been discovered independently by others. The semantical concepts and analyses of §§1 to 4 were conceived independently by Richard Routley (Routley \*\*), as was the analysis of negation in §8 (Routley\*, Routley and Routley\*). The interpretation of many-valued logics in §10 was discovered by Dana Scott (Scott\*) at a somewhat earlier date than the author.

In the logical systems to be discussed below we use  $P_0$ ,  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$ , ...etc. as propositional variables. The formulas of the language of propositional logic are built up as usual, using connectives such as  $\rightarrow$ , &,  $\lor$ ,  $\sim$ . We employ the conventions of Church 1956 in abbreviating formulas. A, B, C, ... etc. are used as syntactical variables ranging over formulas. The set of non-negative integers is denoted by N. If S is a non-empty set a function F defined on N taking subsets  $F_k$  of S as values is a value function on S. Standard algebraic concepts (e.g. semilattice, monoid, partial ordering, distributive lattice) are

used throughout. For definitions of these concepts the reader is referred to Birkhoff and Bartee 1970, from which we have also taken our set-theoretical notation.

#### 2.0 RELEVANT IMPLICATION

#### 2.1 Pieces of information

We begin with the concept of a "piece of information" as it is basic in most of the ensuing discussions. Let us suppose we have a particular subject under consideration, and a language in which to formulate discourse about this subject. It is to be assumed that from the sentences of this language we can isolate the <a href="mailto:basic">basic</a> or <a href="mailto:atomic">atomic</a> sentences from which logically complex sentences are formed by operations such as conjunction, disjunction and implication. Thus if the subject under consideration were number theory the atomic sentences would be numerical equations, if physics they would be simple statements of experimental results, and so forth. A "piece of information" is to be thought of as an arbitrary set of basic sentences. Such a set may be given as a finite list, or may be listed mechanically if infinite, possibly even defined in a non-mechanical manner.

This concept is to be contrasted with two less general concepts, those of an "evidential situation" and of a "possible world". The former concept is one suitable for an analysis of intuitionistic logic (Kripke 1965), the latter for an analysis of modal logic (Kripke 1959, 1963). An evidential situation is to be considered as a set of facts established as true during the course of some investigation. It must therefore satisfy the requirement of consistency. The concept of a possible world is still narrower. As a "possible world" is intended to be a total description of a situation, it must satisfy not only the consistency requirement, but also one of completeness.

Let us suppose we are given a family S of pieces of information about some topic. What can we say about the structure of S? At least, it would appear, we would wish to include 0, the empty piece of information, in S; further, it seems clear that if x and y are in S so is  $x \cup y$ , that is, the piece of information which is the union of x and y. Thus S has the structure of a semilattice with a zero element. It seems reasonable to go further and require S also to be closed under intersection, so that it would have the structure of a distributive lattice. However, since we shall not make any use of the intersection operation, we shall consider S only in its semi-lattice aspect.

It is to be noted that a semilattice structure can also be imposed on a set of evidential situations. If x and y are both sets of statements established as true during the investigation of a fixed subject, then x and y are jointly consistent, so that x vy is again an evidential situation. It is this fact which explains why intuitionistic logic may be analysed as a special case of the semantics for relevant logic. On the other hand, the union operation makes no sense when considered as applying to a set of possible worlds. In fact, one would expect in general two distinct possible worlds to be jointly inconsistent.

Before we can say anything useful about a semilattice S of informational quanta, we need one further concept, namely a primitive notion of consequence or entailment. A piece of information x will entail or have as consequence certain atomic sentences p; we write  $"x \models p"$  if this relationship holds. For instance, we might have:

 $\{1+1=2, 2=1\times 1\} \models 1+1=1\times 1,$ 

{John is a bachelor}  $\models$  John is ummarried, and so on. This consequence relation is essentially <u>logic free</u>, that is, it holds by virtue not of the logical complexities of the sentences involved, but by virtue of (a) the meanings of the predicates and descriptions in the basic sentences and (b) certain background facts assumed to be true ((a) and (b) may not be entirely separable). This fact shows that there is not a vicious circularity involved in defining a consequence relation for logically complex sentences in terms of the basic consequence relation. Finally, we do <u>not</u> postulate that if  $x \models p$  then  $x \cup y \not\models p$ . The reason is that the consequence relation may be interpreted in such a way that  $x \models p$  may fail if x is supplemented by additional irrelevant statements.

The notion of consequence for complex statements can now be defined recursively, given S and the basic consequence relation relative to S. Let us suppose for the moment that the language is purely implicational. If the consequence relation has been extended to A and B what are the truth conditions for  $(A \rightarrow B)$ ? Well, since the  $\rightarrow$  connective represents the notion of logical consequence, we wish it to be the case that  $(A \rightarrow B)$  is a consequence of x whenever B is a consequence of x and A together. We could then write:  $x \models A \rightarrow B$  if  $x \cup \{A\} \models B$ . However, this will not do as a formal definition. The sentence A may be logically complex, so that  $x \cup \{A\}$  would not be a piece of information. We can nevertheless reproduce the intention of the definition in a more general form;  $x \models A \rightarrow B$  if for any y in S, whenever  $y \models A$  then  $x \cup y \models B$ . This statement, which seems to reproduce exactly the sense in which  $\rightarrow$ 

represents deducibility, we take as the recursive consequence definition.

Those familiar with the literature of relevant logic will recognize the provenance of this definition. It is simply the subscripting requirement of the Fitch-style formulations in Anderson 1960, recast in slightly more general form. What we have been trying to emphasize above is the naturalness and philosophical plausibility of Anderson's condition.

We shall now restate these ideas in terms of a formal semantics for a pure implicational language.

2.2 Semantics for  $R_T$ 

Q=(S,F) is an r-model

if

- (i) S is a semilattice with zero element (0),
- (ii) F is a value function on S.

We define the truth of a formula A at x in Q as follows.

- 1.  $x = P_k \text{ iff } x \in F_k$ ,
- 2.  $x \models \overline{Q} A \rightarrow B$  iff for all y in S either not  $y \models \overline{Q} A$  or  $x \cup y \models \overline{Q} B$ . A formula A is <u>true</u> in Q if  $0 \models \overline{Q} A$ , <u>r-valid</u> if true in all r-models.
- 2.3 Axiomatization of  $R_{I}$ .

 $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{I}}$  is axiomatized by the schemata

- 1.  $A \rightarrow A$
- 2.  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow .C \rightarrow A \rightarrow .C \rightarrow B$
- 3.  $(A \rightarrow B \rightarrow C) \rightarrow .B \rightarrow .A \rightarrow C$
- 4.  $(A \rightarrow .A \rightarrow B) \rightarrow .A \rightarrow B$

with  $\underline{\text{modus ponens}}$  (from A and A  $\rightarrow$  B in fer B) as sole rule of inference.

Let  $(A_1,\ldots,A_n)$  be a finite sequence of formulas of  $R_1$ . Then  $(A_1,\ldots,A_n)$  be a finite sequence of formulas of  $R_1$ . We now list some derived rules in terms of this definition.

$$DR1 = \frac{\alpha \vdash A}{\alpha^1 \vdash A},$$

where  $\alpha^{1}$  is any permutation of  $\alpha$ .

DR2 
$$\frac{\alpha \vdash A \rightarrow B}{\alpha, \beta \vdash B}$$
  $\frac{\beta \vdash A}{\beta \vdash A}$ ,

DR3  $\frac{\alpha, A, A, \beta \vdash B}{\alpha, A, \beta \vdash B}$ ,

DR4  $\frac{\alpha, A \vdash B}{\alpha, A \rightarrow A \rightarrow A \vdash B}$ ,

DR5  $\frac{\alpha, A \rightarrow A \rightarrow A \vdash B}{\alpha, A \vdash B}$ ,

where  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  are finite sequences of formulas. We do not establish these rules here, instead referring the reader to the convenient subproof formulation of  $R_{\rm I}$  in Anderson and Belnap 1961a, in which they are easily demonstrated.

# 2.4 Completeness of $R_{\tau}$

The semantic consistency of  $R_{\rm I}$ , that is, the fact that every theorem of  $R_{\rm I}$  is r-valid, is easily proved. We prove semantic completeness by construction of a canonical model for  $R_{\rm I}$ .

Let S be the semilattice of all finite sets of formulas of  $R_{\overline{I}}$  (that is,  $x \cup y$  is set union, 0 the empty set). Let x be in  $F_{\overline{k}}$  if  $\overline{x} \not\vdash P_{\overline{k}}$  for some sequence  $\overline{x}$  in which each element of x occurs once and only once.

Let Q be the r-model (S,F).

LEMMA  $x = \overline{Q} A \text{ iff } \overline{x} \vdash A \text{ for some } \overline{x}.$ 

Proof. The lemma holds for propositional variables by definition. Assume the lemma for A and B. Let it be the case that  $\overline{x} \vdash A \rightarrow B$ . Then if  $y \models_{\overline{Q}} A$ ,  $\overline{y} \vdash_{A} by$  induction hypothesis, so that  $\overline{x}$ ,  $\overline{y} \vdash_{B} by DR2$ . By DR1 and DR3, repetitions in  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$  may be eliminated, so that  $\overline{x \cup y} \vdash_{B}$ , hency  $x \cup y \models_{\overline{Q}} B$ . Hence,  $x \models_{\overline{Q}} A \rightarrow B$ . Now assume conversely that  $x \models_{\overline{Q}} A \rightarrow B$ . Define  $N^OA$  to be A,  $N^{k+1}A$  to be  $N^kA \rightarrow N^kA \rightarrow N^kA$ . Let m be the least k such that  $N^kA$  is not in x. Now  $\{N^mA\} \models_{\overline{Q}} A$  by axiom 1, DR4 and the induction hypothesis, so  $x \cup \{N^mA\} \models_{\overline{Q}} B$ , by assumption. By induction hypothesis,  $\overline{x} \cup \{N^mA\} \vdash_{\overline{Q}} B$ . Since  $N^mA$  is not in x,  $\overline{x} \cup \{N^mA\}$  is  $(\overline{y}, N^mA, \overline{z})$ ,  $x = y \cup z$ . Thus  $\overline{x}$ ,  $A \vdash_{\overline{B}} B$  by DR1 and DR5, that is,  $\overline{x} \vdash_{\overline{A}} A \rightarrow B$ .

As a corollary to the lemma we have:  $\vdash_{R_{_{\hbox{\scriptsize I}}}} A$  iff  $0 \models_{Q} A$ , so that the completeness of  $R_{_{\hbox{\scriptsize T}}}$  is proved.

### 2.5 Modifications of r-models

Before proceeding to the discussion of other calculuses related to  $R_{\scriptscriptstyle T}$ , some easy modifications of the semantics may be noted.

Firstly, we can weaken the condition on an r-model that S be closed under the union operation. Accordingly, an  $r^1$ -model is defined to be a quadruple  $Q = (S, \leq, 0, F)$  where

- (i) S is a set partially ordered by  $\leq$ , with 0 the least element of S, such that whenever a finite subset X of S has an upper bound in S it has a least upper bound UX in S,
- (ii) F is a value function on S. We then define the consequence relation as follows.
  - 1.  $x = P_k$  iff  $x \in F_k$ ,
  - 2.  $x \models A \rightarrow B$  iff for all y such that  $\bigcup \{x,y\}$  exists either

not  $y \models A \text{ or } \bigcup \{x,y\} \models B$ .

Truth in a model and validity are defined as in 1.1. Completeness follows by the results of 1.3.

Secondly, we can exploit the fact that the full semilattice structure is not required for the proof of semantic consistency for  $R_{\overline{1}}$ . For instance, to validate  $(A \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow B) \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow B$  we do not need the condition  $x \cup x = x$ ; all that is needed is the weaker condition that if  $x \cup x \models_{\overline{0}} A$  then  $x \models_{\overline{0}} A$ .

With these facts in mind, we define an r´´-model to be a triple  $Q = (S, \leq, F)$  where

- (i) S is a commutative monoid,
- (ii)  $x \cup x \leqslant x$  for all x in S, and if  $x \leqslant y$  then  $x \cup z \leqslant y \cup z$ ,
- (iii) F is a valuation function on S such that if  $x\leqslant y$  and  $x\in F_k$  then  $y\in F_k$ . Truth and validity are defined as in 1.1. Completeness again follows from the results of 1.3, since  $\leqslant$  may be taken to be the identity relation in an r-model.

These two modifications of the semantics are not interesting from a philosophical standpoint, but as we shall see below they reduce the technical difficulties of a completeness proof when  $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{I}}$  is extended by the addition of certain new connectives.

# 3.0 GENERALIZATIONS OF RELEVANT IMPLICATION

### 3.1 Generalized Semantics

Although from the classical point of view  $R_{\tilde{I}}$  is a very weak calculus it can equally well be regarded as a very strong one, the limiting case in a family of relevant implicational logics. We now consider the consequences of weakening the semi-lattice structure imposed upon an r-model. The calculuses defined by the resulting semantics seem interesting and well-motivated (at least in some cases); furthermore, some light is thrown on the exact semantical conditions which underpin the validity of theorems in  $R_{\tilde{I}}$ .

We define an  $r\emptyset$ -model to be a structure Q=(S,F), where  $0 \in S$ , and  $\cup$  is a binary operation defined on S. The notions of <u>consequence</u>, <u>truth</u> and <u>validity</u> are defined as in §1.1. For future reference we list the semilattice conditions.

- 1.  $0 \cup x = x$
- 2.  $x \upsilon 0 = x$
- 3.  $(x \cup y) \cup z = x \cup (y \cup z)$
- 4.  $x \cup y = y \cup x$
- 5.  $x \cup x = x$

Let w be a subsequence of 1, 2, 3, 4, 5. Then an  $r\emptyset$ -model satisfying the set  $\{w\}$  of conditions will be referred to as an rw-model. The set of formulas true in all rw-models will be referred to as  $R_w$ . For instance,  $R_T$  is  $R_{123451} = R_{13451}$ .

# 3.2 The System R

 $R_{\not QI}$  is not very interesting, as it has no theorems at all. Let A be an arbitrary formula of  $R_{\not QI}$ . Consider Q=(S,F), where S, U and F are defined as in 1.1, and O={ $P_k$ } where  $P_k$  is a variable which does not occur in A. Then Q is an r345-model; A is falsified in Q by the variable-sharing theorem for  $R_I$  (Belnap 1960b). From this it follows that if w is contained in (3, 4, 5), then  $R_k$  is devoid of theorems.

# 3.3 The System R<sub>1T</sub>

 $R_{1\,T}$  is axiomatized by the schema

2.  $A \rightarrow A$ 

with the rules of inference

- R1. From A and  $A \rightarrow B$  infer B
- R2. From  $A \rightarrow B$  infer  $C \rightarrow A \rightarrow .C \rightarrow B$
- R3. From  $A \rightarrow B$  infer  $B \rightarrow C \rightarrow A \rightarrow C$

To show completeness, consider Q=(S,F), where S is the set of all sets of formulas,  $O=\{A: \frac{1}{R_{11}} A\}$ ,  $x \cup y = \{B: (\exists A)(A \rightarrow B \in x \& A \in y)\}$ ,  $x \in F_k$  iff  $P_k \in x$ . Now if  $A \in O \cup x$ , then for some B,  $B \rightarrow A \in O$ ,  $B \in x$ . But if  $B \rightarrow A \in O$ , B is identical with A, hence  $A \in x$ . Conversely, if  $A \in x$ ,  $A \rightarrow A \in O$ , hence  $A \in O \cup x$ . Thus  $O \cup x = x$  for all x in S, so Q is an r1-model. The simple proof that  $x \not\models A$  iff  $A \in x$  is left to the reader.

# 3.4 The System R<sub>14I</sub>

To axiomatize  $R_{14\mathrm{I}}$  we add to the preceding axiom system the schema

2.  $A \rightarrow A \rightarrow B \rightarrow B$ .

To show completeness, we consider the model Q given by the definitions:

- (i) S is the set of all sets of formulas x such that if  $A \rightarrow B \epsilon 0$ , A ex then B ex,
- (ii)  $0=\{A: | \overline{R_{141}} A\},$
- (iii)  $x \cup y = \{B: (\exists A) (A \rightarrow Bex \& Aey)\}$
- (iv)  $x \in Fk$  iff  $P_k \in x$ .

The rule R3 ensures that S is closed under  $\upsilon$ ; the schemata 1 and 2 ensure that Q satisfies conditions 1 and 4. Thus Q is an rl4-model.

To conclude the completeness proof, we must show that  $x \not\models_{\overline{Q}} A$  iff Aex. This holds for propositional variables by construction. Now assume that it holds for A and B. If  $A \rightarrow Bex$  then if  $y \not\models_{\overline{Q}} A$ , Aey by inductive assumption so  $Bex \cup y$ , hence  $x \cup y \not\models_{\overline{Q}} B$ ; hence  $x \not\models_{\overline{Q}} A \rightarrow B$ . Conversely, let  $x \not\models_{\overline{Q}} A \rightarrow B$ . Consider  $y = \{C: A \rightarrow CeO\}$ . This set is in S by R3. Now by inductive hypothesis  $y \not\models_{\overline{Q}} A$ , so  $x \cup y \not\models_{\overline{Q}} B$ . Then for some C,  $C \rightarrow Bex$  and  $A \rightarrow CeO$ . Then by R3,  $C \rightarrow B \rightarrow A \rightarrow BeO$ , so  $A \rightarrow Bex$ .

3.5 The System R<sub>123I</sub>

 $R_{123T}$  is axiomatized by the schemata

- 1. A-A
- 2.  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow C \rightarrow A \rightarrow C \rightarrow B$

with the rules of inference

- R1. From A and  $A \rightarrow B$  infer B,
- R2. From A infer  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow B$ .

Let x by a finite sequence of formulas. We define  $x \leftarrow B$  to hold if  $R_{1231} \xrightarrow{A_1} \dots \xrightarrow{A_n} B$ , where x is  $(A_1, \dots, A_n)$ .

LEMMA 1. If x,  $B \vdash C$  and  $\vdash B$ , then  $x \vdash C$ .

<u>Proof:</u> If  $\vdash$ B then by R2  $\vdash$ B  $\rightarrow$ C  $\rightarrow$ C. Hence by repeated use of schema 2,  $\vdash$  (A<sub>1</sub>  $\rightarrow$  ...A<sub>n</sub>  $\rightarrow$  .B  $\rightarrow$ C)  $\rightarrow$ (A<sub>1</sub>  $\rightarrow$  ...A<sub>n</sub>  $\rightarrow$ C) so by R1, A<sub>1</sub>,...,A<sub>n</sub>  $\vdash$ C, where

 $x=(A_1,\ldots,A_n)$ .

LEMMA 2. If  $x \vdash A \rightarrow B$  and  $y \vdash A$  then  $x, y \vdash B$ .

Proof: Let  $x=(C_1,\ldots,C_m)$  and  $y=(D_1,\ldots,D_n)$ . Assume that  $C_1,\ldots,C_m$   $\vdash A \rightarrow B$ ,  $D_1,\ldots,D_n \vdash A$ . By axiom 2, and R1,  $\vdash C_1 \rightarrow \ldots C_m \rightarrow (D_1 \rightarrow \ldots D_n \rightarrow A)$   $\rightarrow (D_1 \rightarrow \ldots D_n \rightarrow B)$ , so by Lemma 1,  $(C_1,\ldots,C_m,D_1,\ldots,D_n) \vdash B$ .

Now let S be the set of all finite sequences of formulas, 0 the empty sequence,  $x \cup y$  the sequence (x,y) and let  $x \in Fk$  iff  $x \vdash Pk$ . Q=(S,F) is an r123-model. It remains to be shown that  $x \models_Q A$  iff  $x \vdash A$  for all x in S. This follows easily from Lemma 2, so the completeness of  $R_{1231}$  is proved.

3.6 The System R<sub>1234I</sub>

 $m R_{1234I}$  is axiomatized by simply omitting the fourth schema from the axiomatization of 2.2.

Let  $x=(A_1,\ldots,A_n)$  be a finite sequence of formulas.  $x \vdash B$  is defined to hold if  $x \vdash A_1 \rightarrow \ldots \rightarrow A_n \rightarrow B$ . For any two finite sequences  $x \vdash B$  and  $y \vdash A_1 \rightarrow \ldots \rightarrow A_n \rightarrow B$ .

LEMMA 1. If  $x \vdash A \rightarrow B$  and  $y \vdash A$  then  $x, y \vdash B$ .

Proof: As for Lemma 2 in the preceding section.

LEMMA 2. If  $x \vdash A$  and  $x \equiv y$  then  $y \vdash A$ .

<u>Proof</u>: If suffices to prove that if x, A, B, y $\vdash$ C then x, B, A, y $\vdash$ C, as may be shown from the schemata 1 and 2..

Now let S be the set of all equivalence class [x] of finite sequences x under the relation  $\Xi$ , 0 the equivalence class of the null sequence, [x]  $\cup$  [y]=[xy] and let  $x_{\varepsilon}F_{k}$  iff  $x\vdash P_{k}$ . Note that  $\cup$  is well-defined since  $x\Xi y$ ,  $z\Xi w$  implies  $xz\Xi yw$ , and F is well-defined by Lemma 2. Q=(S,F) is evidently an r1234-model, and is a characteristic model for  $R_{12341}$  by

#### Lemma 1.

 $$\rm R_{1234\,I}$$  has been treated in earlier literature. It appears in Smiley 1959 and is discussed in Meredith and Prior 1963 with the name BCI.

### 3.7 Systems with weakening and mingle

Systems with the "weakening" axiom  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow A$  may be considered as resulting from specializations of the semilattice semantics. The condition needed to validate this axiom we shall designate by K;

if 
$$x_{\varepsilon}F_{k}$$
 then  $x \cup y_{\varepsilon}F_{k}$ .

Of the systems with the weakening axiom only two seem worthy of comment, namely R $_{1234\mathrm{K}}$  and R $_{12345\mathrm{K}}$ . The latter is simply the implicational fragment of intuitionistic logic; the former is the system BCK of Meredith and Prior 1963. R $_{1234\mathrm{K}}$  also appears in Tarski 1956, Paper XIV where it is proved that if an implicational logic contains R $_{1234\mathrm{K}}$  then it has only one consistent complete extension, if any.

A more restricted condition related to K is the condition M ("mingle"): if  $x \in F_k$  and  $y \in F_k$  then  $x \cup y \in F_k$ .  $RM_I$  is axiomatized by adding A  $\rightarrow$  . A  $\rightarrow$  A to the axiomatization of  $R_I$  (see Anderson and Belnap \*, Dunn 1970).

### 3.8 Cut free formulations

Several of the systems discussed above have elegant Gentzenstyle formulations. The most interesting case is possibly  $R_{123I}$  which can be formulated as follows. The axioms are all of the form A $\vdash$ A. There are two rules of inference:

$$\rightarrow \vdash \frac{\beta \vdash A}{\alpha, A \rightarrow B, \beta, \gamma \vdash C}$$

$$\rightarrow \frac{\alpha, A \vdash B}{\alpha \vdash A \rightarrow B}$$

To show that this formulation is equivalent to the axiomatic formulation of  $R_{123I}$ , we must prove for the Gentzen version the Elimination Theorem (ET): If  $(1)\alpha \vdash A$  and  $(2)\beta,A,\gamma \vdash B$  are provable. so is  $(3)\beta,\alpha,\gamma \vdash B$ .

<u>Proof:</u> Let the definitions of <u>parameter</u>, <u>constituent</u>, <u>parametric</u>

<u>ancestor</u> be as in Curry 1963, p. 199. The <u>rank</u> of a constituent A

of a sequent is the number of parametric ancestors of A less 1.

Example: in the derivation

$$\frac{A \vdash A \qquad B \vdash B}{A \rightarrow B, A \vdash B}$$

$$A \rightarrow B \vdash A \rightarrow B$$

the rank of the lefthand constituent in the last sequent is 1, that of the righthand constituent 0.

Let m be the rank of A in (1), n the rank of A in (2). We first show that if either (1) or (2) are axioms then the ET holds. If (1) is an axiom then  $\alpha$  consists of A alone, so the theorem follows trivially. If (2) is an axiom A is the same formula as C so ET again is trivial.

Now assume that the ET holds for m, n and a given formula A. To show that it holds for the same A, m and n + 1, we observe that the last line of the proof of (2) must be an instance of a rule in which A is parametric. The conclusion follows from the fact that an instance of either rule remains an instance of the same rule upon replacement of the parametric A in premisses and conclusion by  $\alpha$ .

Now assume ET for m, n and a fixed A. We aim to show that it holds for m + 1, n and the same A. If the rank of A in (1) is m + 1,

then (1) must be immediately derived by  $\rightarrow$   $\vdash$ . Let us suppose the derivation to end as follows:

$$\frac{\varepsilon \vdash C \qquad \delta, D, \mu \vdash A}{\delta, C \rightarrow D, \varepsilon, \ \mu \vdash A}$$

By assumption,  $\beta, \delta, D, \mu, \gamma \vdash B$  is derivable, hence by  $\longrightarrow \vdash$ 

$$\frac{\varepsilon \vdash C \qquad \beta, \delta, D, \mu, \gamma \vdash B}{\beta, \delta, C \Rightarrow D, \varepsilon, \mu, \gamma \vdash B},$$

That is,  $\beta, \alpha, \gamma \vdash B$  is derivable.

Finally, assume that the ET holds generally when the eliminated constituents are C and D. We shall show that it holds for  $C \rightarrow D$  when m=n=o. In view of the preceding remarks we may suppose that neither (1) nor (2) are axioms so that the last parts of the derivations of (1) and (2) are applications of  $\vdash \rightarrow$  and  $\rightarrow \vdash$  respectively:

$$\begin{array}{c}
\alpha,C \vdash D \\
\hline
\alpha \vdash C \to D
\end{array}$$
(4)
$$\begin{array}{c}
\gamma_1 \vdash C \\
\beta,C \to D, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, \vdash B
\end{array}$$

From (3) and (5) by the ET,  $\beta,\alpha,C$ ,  $\gamma_2 \vdash B$  is derivable, hence by the ET from (4)  $\beta,\alpha,\gamma_1,\gamma_2 \vdash B$  is derivable. This completes the proof of the elimination theorem.

It is now easy, using the results of 2.5, to show the two formulations of  $R_{123I}$  equivalent, in the sense that A is provable in  $R_{123I}$  iff A is provable in the Gentzen system. Thus  $R_{123I}$  corresponds to a rather interesting cut-free formulation — one in which there are no structural rules whatever.

Gentzen formulations of  ${\rm R}^{}_{1234{\rm I}}$  and  ${\rm R}^{}_{\rm I}$  are obtained by adding rules of permutation and contraction.

### 4.0 TICKET ENTAILMENT

### 4.1 Introduction

Pieces of information may be ordered in a variety of ways. One way which seems especially interesting is connected with the varying degrees of generality which a piece of information may possess. Let us write  $x \le y$  if the piece of information x is more general than y, or alternatively, y contains at least as much information as x. The relation  $\le$  must possess some of the properties of set inclusion, for instance  $x \le x \cup y$  for any x, y. On the other hand, it would not appear to be correct to identify  $\le$  with set inclusion in general. Thus it would seem plausible that

{John's wife is sick}<{John has a wife}, while the corresponding statement of set inclusion is of course false.

It would seem that  $A \rightarrow B$  is a more general statement than A or B. We therefore postulate that  $A \rightarrow B$  follows from x if the appropriate deducibility condition is satisfied by all pieces of information as general as, or less general than x. This idea leads to the system  $T_T$  of ticket entailment.

# 4.2 Semantics for $T_{I}$

 $Q=(S, \leq, F)$  is a t-model if

- (i) S is a semi-lattice with 0.
- (ii)  $\leq$  is a transitive binary relation defined on S such that for any x and y in S if  $x \leq y$  then  $x \circ z \leq y \circ z$ , and for any x in S,  $0 \leq x$ .
- (iii) F is a value function on S. The truth of a formula A at x in Q is defined as follows.

- 1. x = Pk iff  $x \in Fk$ ,
- 2.  $x \models A \rightarrow B$  iff for all y in Q such that  $x \leqslant y$  either not  $y \models_{\overline{Q}} A$  or  $x \cup y \models_{\overline{Q}} B$ .

A formula A is <u>true</u> in Q iff 0 = A, <u>t-valid</u> if true in all t-models.

# 4.3 Axiomatization of $T_T$

 $\boldsymbol{T}_{\boldsymbol{T}}$  is axiomatized by the schemata

- 1. A→A
- 2.  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow B \rightarrow C \rightarrow A \rightarrow C$
- 3.  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow .C \rightarrow A \rightarrow .C \rightarrow B$
- 4.  $(A \rightarrow A \rightarrow B) \rightarrow A \rightarrow B$

with modus ponens as sole rule of inference.

# 4.4 Completeness of $T_T$

Let T be the set of all finite sets of positive integers, U the set of all formulas of  $T_I$ . For x,y in T the relation  $x \leqslant y$  is defined to hold if max (x) is less than or equal to max (y), where max (x) is the greatest member of x if  $x \ne \emptyset$  and max ( $\emptyset$ )=0. Members of  $U \times T$  will be referred to as terms. A term may be written as a formula with a subscript, for instance  $A \rightarrow C_{\{1,2\}}$ . Let S be the set of all finite subsets of  $U \times T$ . For x in S, s(x) is defined to be the union of all subscripts of terms in x. For x in S, and A in U, a proof of A from x is defined to be a sequence of terms  $B_1$ ,..., $B_n$  such that  $B_n$  is A and  $x_n$  is s(x) and for each  $B_1$  either (i)  $B_1$  is in x or (ii)  $B_1$  is a theorem of  $T_1$  and  $T_1$  is empty or (iii)  $T_1$  is  $T_2$ ,  $T_3$ ,  $T_4$  and  $T_4$  is empty or (iii)  $T_4$  is  $T_4$  and for some C,  $T_4$  and  $T_4$  is empty or (iii)  $T_4$  is  $T_4$  and for some C,  $T_4$  and  $T_4$  is empty or (iii)  $T_4$  is  $T_4$  and  $T_4$  if there is a proof of A from x. Finally, let  $T_4$  hold for x,y in S if  $T_4$  is  $T_4$ .

LEMMA 1. If  $x \vdash A \rightarrow B$ ,  $y \vdash A$  and  $x \leqslant y$  then  $x \cup y \vdash B$ .

Proof: Immediate from definitions.

<u>LEMMA 2</u>. If  $x \cup \{A_{\{k\}}\} \vdash B$ , where k > s(x) then  $x \vdash A \rightarrow B$ .

<u>Proof</u>: The proof of this lemma is a straightforward adaptation of the method used by Anderson and Belnap \* \$6 to show the equivalence of the axiomatic and subproof formulations of  $T_T$ .

Now consider Q=(S,<,F), where S is the set semilattice of all finite sets of terms,  $\leq$  is defined as above on S and  $x \in F_k$  iff  $x \vdash P_k$ . We prove by induction on the complexity of a formula A that  $x \vdash_Q A$  iff  $x \vdash_A$ , using Lemmas 1 and 2. Thus Q is a t-model which is characteristic for  $T_T$ .

# 4.5 $T_T$ minus contraction

As in the case of  $R_I$  the semantics of  $T_I$  may be generalized by weakening the semilattice conditions. One logic which may be treated semantically in this way is  $T_I$ -W,  $T_I$  minus contraction (Anderson and Belnap \*, §8.11), which is axiomatized by omitting the fourth schema from the axiom system of 3.2. We define a t1234-model in the same way as a t-model, save that S is required merely to be a commutative monoid with zero.

For x,y arbitrary sequences let x=y hold if x is a permutation of y. Let T be the set of equivalence classes [a] under  $\equiv$ , where a is a finite sequence of positive integers; let  $\leq$  be defined on T as in the preceding section. Members of the set UxT will be referred to as terms, where U is as in 3.3; a term (A,[a]) may be written  $A_a$ , with the understanding that for instance  $A_{12}=A_{21}$ , while on the other hand  $A_{12}\neq A_{122}$ . Now let S be the set of all equivalence classes [x] under  $\equiv$  where x is a finite

sequence of terms; s is a commutative monoid with zero when  $[x] \cup [y] = [xy]$ . The function s(x) and the relation x < y are defined for x and y in s by analogy with 3.3, as is the notion "proof of A from x", where x is a finite sequence of terms. For such an x, let  $[x] \vdash A$  hold if there is a proof of A from x.

<u>LEMMA 1</u>. If  $[x] \vdash A \rightarrow B$ ,  $[x] \leq [y]$  and  $[y] \vdash A$  then  $[xy] \vdash A$ Proof: As in 3.3.

LEMMA 2. If  $[x] \cup [A_k] \vdash B$ , where k>s(x), then  $[x] \vdash A \rightarrow B$ .

Proof: By hypothesis there is a sequence of terms  $C_1$ ,..., $C_n$  which  $a_1$  an is a proof of B from x,  $A_k$ . We proceed in two stages to convert it into a proof of A  $\rightarrow$  B from x. First, delete from the sequence all  $C_i$  where k occurs more than once in  $a_i$ . The resulting sequence  $\{D_i\}$  is still a proof of B from x; for k can occur at most once in any term from which  $D_n = Bs(x) \cup [k]$  is derived. The second part of the conversion then an proceeds as in Anderson & Belnap \* §6.

Let Q=(S,<,F) where  $[x] \in F_k$  iff  $[x] \vdash P_k$ . Q is shown to be a characteristic model for  $T_T$ -W by use of the two lemmas.

4.6  $T_T$  minus contraction and permutation

Q=(S, $\leqslant$ ,F) is defined to be a t123-model if S is a monoid, F a value function on S and  $\leqslant$  a binary relation on S such that for all x,y,z in s,  $0 \leqslant x$  and if  $x \cup y \leqslant z$  then  $y \leqslant z$  and  $x \leqslant y \cup z$ .

Truth and validity are defined as usual.

 ${\bf T}_{\mbox{123I}}$  is axiomatized by the schemata

- 1.  $A \rightarrow A$
- 2.  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow . C \rightarrow A \rightarrow . C \rightarrow B$

with the rules of inference

- R1. From A and  $A \rightarrow B$  infer B
- R2. From A $\rightarrow$ B infer B $\rightarrow$ C $\rightarrow$ .A $\rightarrow$ C

Let U be the set of all finite sequences of positive integers, and for x,y in U let  $x \le y$  hold iff either x is empty or y is non-empty and xy is a consecutive sequence. Let S be the set of all finite sequences of terms in  $F \times U$  and for x in S let  $S \times U$  be the sequence obtained by concatenating subscripts in the order in which they occur in x. For x,y in s let  $S \times U$  hold if  $S \times U \times U$ . A proof of A from x may be defined as in 3.4. Now let  $S \times U$  hold if there is a proof of A from x and  $S \times U$  is a consecutive sequence.

LEMMA 1. If  $x \vdash A \rightarrow B$ ,  $y \vdash A$  and  $x \leqslant y$  then  $xy \vdash B$ .

<u>LEMMA 2</u>. If x,  $A_k \vdash B$  and  $s(x) \le k$ , then  $x \vdash A \rightarrow B$ .

Proof: The proof is parallel to that of Lemma 2, 3.4.

Now let  $x \in F_k$  iff  $x \vdash P_k$ . Q=(S,<,F) is a t123-model, and by the two lemmas above, characteristic for  $T_{123I}$ .

One final system related to  $\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{I}}$  may be mentioned here, that which arises by adding the requirement x $\leq$ y iff x $\cup$  y=y to the definition of a t-model. This condition validates all theorems of S $^4\mathbf{I}$ ; we conjecture that the condition characterizes S $^4\mathbf{I}$ .

#### 5.0 ENTAILMENT

#### 5.1 Introduction

To motivate the semantics of entailment, let us return to the considerations of 1.0. We supposed given a primitive, logicfree consequence relation holding between pieces of information and atomic sentences, which holds by virtue of (a) the meanings of words in the basic sentences and (b) certain background facts. Now in  ${
m R}_{
m T}$ and  $\mathbf{T}_{\mathsf{T}}$  the set of background facts is tacit; it is considered fixed or invariable. However, if we take into account the idea that there may be alternate sets of background facts the picture changes. For instance, the statement "Richard Nixon likes Billy Graham" follows from the piece of information {The President of the U.S.A. likes Billy Graham), given the background of facts of actual events in 1971, but it would not follow against a background in which, say, Hubert Humphrey was President. In other words, the fundamental notion for entailment is not simply logical consequence, but logical consequence relative to a set of background facts. In what follows we shall use the term "possible world" instead of the clumsier "set of background facts."

Given a class W of possible worlds, one further concept is required to determine the truth conditions of complex statements, namely a relation R of relative possibility defined on W. We now proceed to a formal definition of validity.

# 5.2 Semantics for $E_{\overline{I}}$

Q=(S,W,R,w,F) is an e-model if

- (i) S is a semilattice,
- (ii) W is a set with weW, R a transitive reflexive relation on W,
  - (iii) F is a value function on  $S \times W$ .

The truth of a purely implicational formula at  $x \in S$ ,  $u \in W$  is defined as follows.

1. 
$$x$$
,  $u = 0$   $P_k$  iff  $(x, u) \in F_k$ ,

2. x,  $u \models A \rightarrow B$  iff for all y in S, v in W, if uRv and  $y, v \models A$  then  $x \cup y$ ,  $v \models B$ .

A formula A is e-valid if 0, w = A in all e-models.

5.3 Axiomatization of  $E_T$ 

A convenient axiomatization of  $\boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{I}}$  is provided by the axiom schemata

- 1.  $A \rightarrow A \rightarrow B \rightarrow B$
- 2.  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow B \rightarrow C \rightarrow A \rightarrow C$
- 3.  $(A \rightarrow A \rightarrow B) \rightarrow A \rightarrow B$

with <u>modus</u> ponens as sole rule of inference. As usual we leave it to the reader to prove semantic consistency.

Let S be the set of all finite subsets of N and T the set of all terms A with A a formula of E and x in S. Now let W be the set of all u such that

- (a) u is contained in T,
- (b) The union of all subscripts in u is finite,
- (c) If  $\sqsubseteq_T$  A then  $A_{\emptyset} \in \mathbf{u}$
- (d) If  $A \rightarrow B_x$ ,  $A_y \in u$  then  $B_{xuy} \in u$ .

For u,vew let uRv hold if for all A, B, x if  $A \rightarrow B_X$  is in u

then  $A \rightarrow B_x$  is in v.

For X a finite set of terms let a proof of a term  $A_y$  from X be defined as a sequence of terms such that each term in the sequence is either in X or is  $C_{\varphi}$  where  $E_{I}$  C or is derived from preceding terms according to the rule (d) above, and such that the last term is  $A_y$ . Now for u in W let u' be the set of terms  $A \to B_x$  in u; let k be a number greater than any occurring in any subscript in u. Define  $P(u,A_{\{k\}})$  to be  $\{B_y:$  There is a proof of  $B_y$  from some  $X \subseteq u' \cup \{A_{\{k\}}\}\}$ . LEMMA: If  $Bx \cup \{k\}$  is in  $P(u,A_{\{k\}})$  then  $A \to B_x$  is in u.

Proof: The proof is a variation on the proof of equivalence of the axiomatic and subproof formulations of  $E_I$  in Anderson & Belnap 1961a, \*.

Let w be  $\{A_{\mbox{$\not$0$}}\colon \mbox{$\stackrel{\longleftarrow}{\stackrel{\longleftarrow}{\stackrel}}$}A\}$ , and let  $(x,u)\in F_k$  iff  $P_k$   $\in U$ . Then Q=(S,W,R,w,F) is an e-model. By an inductive argument using the lemma we show that  $x,u\not\models A$  iff  $A_x\in U$ , so that Q is a characteristic model for  $E_1$ .

### 5.4 Variations on a modal theme.

 to  $\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{I}}$  results in an axiomatization of  $\mathbf{E5}_{\mathbf{I}}$ .

Evidently, we may also vary the semilattice conditions freely and independently. The author has not investigated the resulting family of logics in detail, and leaves such experimentation to the reader.

### 6.0 CONJUNCTION

## 6.1 Classical Conjunction

To treat classical conjunction we define relative to an r- or t-model:

 $x \models A\&B \text{ iff } x \models Q A \text{ and } x \models Q B, \text{ and relative to an e-model:}$   $x,u \models A\&B \text{ iff } x,u \models Q A \text{ and } x,u \models Q B.$ 

The systems  $R_{IC}$ ,  $P_{IC}$  are axiomatized by adding to the axiomatizations of 1.2 and 3.2 the schemata:

- 5. A&B → A
- 6. A&B→B
- 7.  $(A \rightarrow B\&A \rightarrow C) \rightarrow (A \rightarrow .B\&C)$

and the rule of adjunction (from A and B to infer A&B). The same extension of the implicational fragment provides a complete axiomatization of the IC fragment of all logics axiomatized in §§1-3 with the exception of  $R_{\emptyset I}$ . In each case the completeness proof is a straightforward modification of the proof for the I fragment. It is to be noted that in the case of  $R_{11C}$  the inference rules of 2.2, which are redundant in  $R_{11}$  are essential in the extended calculus.

In the case of  $E_{\mbox{\footnotesize{IC}}}$  we must add in addition to schemata 5-7 and the rule of adjunction the schema

8. (NA&NB) $\rightarrow$ N(A&B), where NA=df A $\rightarrow$ A. With this addition, a modification of the argument of the 4.2 suffices to prove completeness. 6.2 Intensional Conjunction

The semantics of  $R_{f IC}$  extend to include "intensional conjunction" or "joint consistency" by the consequence definition:

 $x \models AoB$  iff for some  $y,z,x=y \cup z$  and  $y \models A$  and  $z \models B$ . This definition validates the schema

9. 
$$(A \rightarrow B \rightarrow C) \leftrightarrow (AoB \rightarrow C)$$

where  $A \hookrightarrow B = df$   $(A \rightarrow B) \& (B \rightarrow A)$ . The author conjectures that the addition of 9 gives a complete system. We can give an easy completeness result by using the modified models of 1.4. Relative to an r''-model Q let the valuation rule for & be as usual, and let

x 
otin AoB iff for some  $y, z, y \cup z \le x$  and y 
otin A and z 
otin B.

It is also convenient to introduce a constant t, for which the rule is: x 
otin C t iff  $0 \le x$ .

For the constant t we have the valid schema:

10. 
$$A \leftrightarrow (Aot)$$

The set of valid formulas in  $\rightarrow$ , &, o and t we shall denote by R' $_{\rm ICkt}$ . We claim that this set is axiomatized by adding the schemata 9 and 10 to R $_{\rm IC}$ . Before giving the proof, we list some theorems derivable in the axiomatization, whose proofs we leave to the reader.

- T1.  $(A \rightarrow B \& C \leftrightarrow D) \rightarrow (AoC \leftrightarrow BoD)$
- T2. Ao (BoC) $\longleftrightarrow$  (AoB) oC
- Т3. АоВ⇔ВоА
- T4. A→AoA
- T5.  $(A \rightarrow B) \rightarrow (AoC \rightarrow BoC)$
- T6.  $(A \rightarrow B\&C \rightarrow D) \rightarrow (AoC \rightarrow BoD)$

Now let S be the set of all non-empty equivalence classes of formulas of R'  $_{ICkt}$  under provable equivalence. Let the equivalence class of A be  $\overline{A}$ . We define  $\overline{A} \cup \overline{B}$  as  $\overline{AoB}$ ; this is a valid definition by T1. Let 0 be  $\overline{t}$ ,  $\overline{A} \leqslant \overline{B}$  iff  $\vdash B \rightarrow A$  and  $\overline{AeF}_k$  iff  $\vdash A \rightarrow P_k$ . Schema 8, together with T2-T6,

ensures that Q=(S,<,F) is an r´´-model. The completeness proof is concluded by showing that for any A, B,  $\overline{A} \models \overline{Q}$  B iff  $\vdash A \rightarrow B$ , the proof of which we omit.

The semantics for  $\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{IC}}$  extend similarly by the rule:

x,  $u \models AoB$  iff for some  $y,z,x=y \cup z$  and  $y,u \models A$  and z,  $u \models B$ . With this rule, T1-T6 are validated, as is  $(A \rightarrow .B \rightarrow C) \rightarrow .AoB \rightarrow C$ . The converse of this last schema is invalid.

#### 7.0 DISJUNCTION

It would seem that the extension of the semantics to include disjunction is as unproblematic as the extension to conjunction. We define in an r- or t-model:

$$x = AvB$$
 iff  $x = A$  or  $x = B$ ,

and in an e-model:

$$x, u = AvB$$
 iff  $x, u = A$  or  $x, u = B$ 

These rules validate the schemata:

- 11.  $A \rightarrow .AvB$
- 12.  $B \rightarrow .AvB$
- 13.  $(A \rightarrow C\&B \rightarrow C) \rightarrow .AvB \rightarrow C$
- 14.  $(A&(BvC)) \rightarrow .(A&B)vC$

Thus all theorems derivable from the negation-free axioms of E, R and T are valid in the appropriate senses. It seems plausible to conjecture that these negation-free fragments are complete with respect to the semantics. Surprisingly, this conjecture is false. A counter-example, due to the joint effort of J. Michael Dunn and Robert K. Meyer is provided by the schema

- 15.  $[(A \rightarrow A) \& (A \& B \rightarrow C) \& (A \rightarrow .BvC)] \rightarrow .A \rightarrow C$  which is r-, t- and e-valid, but not provable in R. Its independence in R may be shown by the matrices in Anderson and Belnap \*, §22.1.3; give A the value +3, B the value +0 and C the value -0, so that 15 takes on the undesignated value -3. A slightly simpler schema:
- 16.  $[(A \rightarrow .BvC) \& (B \rightarrow D)] \rightarrow (A \rightarrow .DvC)$  is also valid under all three definitions but may be shown independent in R by using the same matrices and giving A, B and C the same values as before and D the

value -0. The first schema is easily deduced from the second in the context of T with the help of the distribution axiom.

The program of semantical analysis thus breaks down in the presence of disjunction, and this failure appears irreparable. There seems to be no plausible substitute for the obvious evaluation rule for disjunction. It follows that the evaluation rule for implication, though completely successful where implication alone is concerned, must be basically altered if the full systems R, T and E are to be treated.

### 8.0 A GENTZEN SYSTEM

Although we have failed to provide a correct analysis of any of the major intensional logics, the systems defined by the semantics appear independently interesting and well-motivated. The problem of axiomatizing these systems when disjunction is included has not been solved in any instance. However, as we now show, the set of r-valid formulas in ->, & and v can be provided with a kind of "Gentzen formulation."

The basic formal objects of the system which we shall call RD are sequents  $\alpha \vdash \beta$  where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are sequences (possibly empty) of terms. The axioms of RD are all sequents of the form

$$\alpha$$
,  $A_{x}$ ,  $\beta \vdash \gamma$ ,  $A_{x}$ ,  $\delta$ .

The rules of RD follow.

$$\rightarrow \vdash \frac{\alpha, A \rightarrow B_{x}, \beta \vdash \gamma, A_{y}}{\alpha, A \rightarrow B_{x}, \beta \vdash \gamma} \xrightarrow{\alpha, A \rightarrow B_{x}, \beta \vdash \gamma}$$

$$\vdash \rightarrow \frac{\alpha, A_{\{k\}} \vdash \beta, A \rightarrow B_{x}, \gamma, B_{x \cup \{k\}}}{\alpha \vdash \beta, A \rightarrow B_{x}, \gamma}$$

1

where k does not occur in x or in any subscript in  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  or  $\gamma$ .

$$\delta \leftarrow \frac{\alpha, A\delta B_{x}, \beta, A_{x}, B_{x} \vdash \gamma}{\alpha, A\delta B_{x}, \beta \vdash \gamma}$$

$$\vdash \delta \frac{\alpha \vdash \beta, A\delta B_{x}, \gamma, A_{x}}{\alpha \vdash \beta, A\delta B_{x}, \gamma}$$

$$v \vdash \frac{\alpha, AvB_{x}, \beta, A_{x} \vdash \gamma}{\alpha, AvB_{x}, \beta \vdash \gamma}$$

$$c \vdash v \frac{\alpha \vdash \beta, AvB_{x}, \gamma, A_{x} \vdash \beta}{\alpha \vdash \beta, AvB_{x}, \gamma}$$

$$c \vdash v \frac{\alpha \vdash \beta, AvB_{x}, \gamma, A_{x}, B_{x}}{\alpha \vdash \beta, AvB_{x}, \gamma}$$

Our main object is to prove the following completeness theorem.

 $\underline{\text{T1.}}$   $\vdash A_{\emptyset}$  is provable in RD iff A is r-valid.

<u>Proof:</u> We first show that a proof of  $\vdash A_Q$  in RD shows A to be r-valid. This is done by correlating the sequents of RD with statements about validity of formulas in r-structures. In a sequent  $\alpha \vdash \beta$  replace each term  $A_{\{a,\ldots,m\}}$  by the statement  $x_a \cup \ldots \cup x_m \models_{\overline{Q}} A$ . Then let  $S(\alpha \vdash \beta)$  be the statement "For any r-structure Q, if all statements in  $\alpha$  are true, then at least one statement in  $\beta$  is true." We may now prove that if  $\alpha \vdash \beta$  is provable in RD then  $S(\alpha \vdash \beta)$  is true, hence that if  $\vdash A_Q$  is provable, A is r-valid.

To complete the proof, an algorithm is described which consists of a systematic attempt to construct a proof of a sequent. If the attempt fails the algorithm produces a falsifying r-model. The idea is to start with a given sequent  $\vdash A_{Q}$ , then apply the rules of RD in reverse, thus producing a growing tree of sequents. First, some definitions. A term  $A_{\chi}$  occurring in a sequent  $\alpha \vdash \beta$  is said to be discharged if one of the eight conditions hold:  $(1)\alpha \vdash \beta$  is an axiom of RD, (2)  $A_{\chi}$  is  $B \rightarrow C_{\chi}$ , occurs in  $\beta$  and for some k,  $B_{\{k\}}$  is in  $\alpha$  and  $C_{\chi \cup \{k\}}$  is in  $\beta$ , (3)  $A_{\chi}$  is  $B \rightarrow C_{\chi}$ , is in  $\alpha$  and for all y contained in w, either  $B_{\chi}$  occurs in  $\beta$  or  $C_{\chi \cup \chi}$  is in  $\alpha$ , where w is the union of all subscripts in  $\alpha \vdash \beta$ , (4)  $A_{\chi}$  is  $B \& C_{\chi}$ , is in  $\alpha$  and  $B_{\chi}$  and  $C_{\chi}$  are both in  $\alpha$ , (5)  $A_{\chi}$  is  $B \& C_{\chi}$ , is in  $\beta$  and either  $B_{\chi}$  or  $C_{\chi}$  is in  $\beta$ , (6)  $A_{\chi}$  is  $B \lor C_{\chi}$ , is in  $\alpha$  and either  $B_{\chi}$  or  $C_{\chi}$  is in  $\beta$ , (6)  $A_{\chi}$  is  $B \lor C_{\chi}$ , is in  $\alpha$  and either  $B_{\chi}$  or  $C_{\chi}$  is in  $\beta$ , (6)  $A_{\chi}$  is  $B \lor C_{\chi}$ , is in  $\alpha$  and either  $A_{\chi}$  is  $A_{\chi}$ 

Stage 0. Start with  $\vdash A_{d}$  as the origin of the tree.

Stage 2n. Apply the appropriate rule of RD in reverse to the leftmost undischarged term in the tree which is not an implication on the right

of a sequent. For instance, let  $A\&B_X$  be the leftmost such term, occurring in  $\alpha$  in  $\alpha \vdash \beta$ ; we add to the end of the branch a new sequent which is a premiss for an instance of  $\& \vdash$  in which  $A\&B_X$  is the principal constituent. This stage must eventually produce a tree in which all terms are discharged, with the possible exception of arrow terms on the right of sequents. The reason for this is that no new subscripts are introduced in the stage, while applications of the rules in reverse produce only formulas of lesser complexity than the formula in the term to which they are applied. When this occurs, proceed to stage 2n+1.

Stage 2n+1: Apply  $\longrightarrow$  in reverse to the leftmost undischarged term. Proceed to Stage 2n+2.

Three possibilities arise. First, the algorithm may terminate, producing a tree in which all end sequents are axioms. Second, the algorithm may terminate, but in the resulting tree, at least one end sequent is not an axiom. Third, the algorithm may fail to terminate (for an example, apply it to  $\vdash A \rightarrow B \rightarrow A \rightarrow A_0$ ). In the first case, the tree is a proof of  $\vdash A_0$  in RD. In the last two cases it must be shown that the resulting tree (in the last case, an infinite tree) provides an r-model in which it is not the case that  $0 \vdash_{\overline{Q}} A$ .

In the second case at least one branch of the tree ends in a sequent which is not an axiom, but in which all terms are discharged. In the third case, it follows by König's lemma that the tree has at least one infinitely long branch. Let us call either type of branch a full branch. A term is said to occur on the left (on the right) of a branch if it occurs on the left (on the right) of some sequent in the

branch. Let S(B) be the union of all subscripts occurring on a branch B.

LEMMA 1 If B is a full branch then (1) No term occurs on both the left and right of B, (2) if  $A \rightarrow B_x$  occurs on the left of B then for all y contained in S(B) either  $A_y$  occurs on the right of B or  $B_{x \cup y}$  occurs on the left of B, (3) if  $A \rightarrow B_x$  occurs on the right of B then for some y contained in S(B)  $A_y$  occurs on the left and  $B_{x \cup y}$  on the right, (4) if  $A\&B_x$  occurs on the left, both  $A_x$  and  $B_x$  occur on the left, (5) if  $A\&B_x$  occurs on the right either  $A_x$  or  $B_x$  occur on the right, (6) if  $AvB_x$  occurs on the left either  $A_x$  or  $B_x$  occurs on the left, (7) if  $AvB_x$  occurs on the right both  $A_x$  and  $B_x$  occurs on the right.

Proof: Part (1) follows from the fact that terms occurring on either side of sequents occur on the same sides of dominating sequents. If B is finite (2) to (7) follow from the fact that all terms in the end sequent of B are discharged. Assume that B is infinite. Let  $A \rightarrow B_X$  occur on the left of B and let y be contained in S(B); then there is an earliest stage n at which  $A \rightarrow B_X$  occurs on the left of a partial branch B' contained in B and y is contained in S(B'). Then since at the next even stage after  $A \rightarrow B_X$  is discharged, either  $A_Y$  occurs on the right or  $A_X \rightarrow B_X$  occurs on the left of B. Let  $A \rightarrow B_X$  occur on the right of B. Then since B is infinite, at some stage  $A_X \rightarrow B_X$  is the leftmost undischarged term in a branch B' contained in B, so that it is discharged at stage  $A_X \rightarrow B_X$  is the leftmost undischarged term in a branch B' contained in B, so that it is discharged at stage  $A_X \rightarrow B_X$  is the leftmost undischarged term in a branch B' contained in B, so that it is discharged at stage  $A_X \rightarrow B_X \rightarrow B_X$  is the leftmost undischarged term in a branch B' contained in B, so that it is discharged during even stages.

Now let S be the set of all finite subsets of S(B), and for x in S, let  $x \in F_k$  iff  $P_k$  occurs on the left of B. Then  $Q_B = (S,F)$  is an r-model.

<u>LEMMA 2.</u> If  $A_x$  occurs on the left of B,  $x = \overline{Q}_B$  A; if  $A_x$  occurs on the right of B, not  $x = \overline{Q}_B$  A.

<u>Proof</u>: For propositional variables the result holds by definition; the inductive step follows by Lemma 1.

Hence, if the algorithm fails to produce a proof of  $\vdash A_{0}$  in RD, then  $\vdash A_{0}$  appears on the right of a full branch B, so  $0 \models_{R} A_{0}$  is false. This proves T1.

The success of the Gentzen formulation with respect to completeness, however, does not seem to bring us nearer to providing a standard axiomatization of the set of all r-valid formulas. The difficulty is that there is no apparent way to translate the sequents of RD into the language of R. (A translation is, however, possible where implication alone is concerned -- see Urquhart \*).

#### 9.0 NEGATION

Negation, after implication, poses the most interesting problems in the context of intensional logics. It is involved essentially in two of the most notorious "paradoxes of material implication",  $(A\&\overline{A}) \longrightarrow B$  and  $A \longrightarrow (Bv\overline{B})$ . Any account of negation in intensional logics must at the very least avoid rendering these schemata valid.

This fact immediately rules out what could be called the classical valuation rule for negation:

 $(\sim C)$  x  $\downarrow_{\overline{Q}} \sim A$  iff it is not the case that x  $\downarrow_{\overline{Q}} A$ , which validates both paradoxes. Their validity can be traced to two consequences implicit in the classical rule. If this rule truly describes the behaviour of the negation connective then all pieces of information must be both consistent and complete. Neither property however, necessarily attaches to a piece of information, as was argued informally in 1.0.

We therefore have to provide a rule for negation which is consistent with the existence of inconsistent and incomplete pieces of information. At the same time, if we wish to follow the lines of the axiomatization of intensional logics provided by Ackermann, Anderson, Belnap and others, we must strive to preserve many laws ordinarily considered characteristic of classical negation (for instance, the law of double negation). This aim is partially fulfilled by an extension of the concept of an r-model.

Let Q=(S,\*,F) be an r\*-model if (1) (S,F) is an r-model and

(2) \* is a function defined on S such that 0\*=0 and for any x in S, x\*\*=x. Then if Q is an r\*-model, negation is treated by the rule:

 $(^{\circ}*): x \not\models_{\overline{Q}} ^{\circ}A$  iff it is not the case that  $x \not\models_{\overline{Q}} A$ . Similarly, Q=(S,\*,W,R,w,F) is an e\*-model if (1) (S,W,R,w,F) is an e-model and (2) \* is a function defined on S satisfying the above conditions. The rule for  $^{\circ}$  in an e\*-model is:x,  $u \not\models_{\overline{Q}} ^{\circ}A$  iff it is not the case that  $x \not\models_{\overline{Q}} A$ .

These definitions have many of the right features. For instance, let  $S=\{0,a,b\}$  and let  $\cup$  and  $\star$  be defined by the tables

U	0 a b	*	
0	0 a b	0	0
а	aab	а	ъ
ъ	ььь	ъ	а

Let  $F_1=\{a\}$ ,  $F_2=\{b\}$ . As may easily be checked, Q=(S,F) is an r\*-model, where F is otherwise arbitrary. Furthermore, Q falsifies both paradoxes mentioned above, as well as the principle of the disjunctive syllogism  $(^{\sim}P_1\&(P_1vP_2))\rightarrow P_2$ .

We can actually state something stronger. The zero- and first-degree entailments which are r\*-valid are exactly those provable in R, or equivalently, in E or T. This fact can be proved by introducing an auxiliary concept. Q=(S,0,\*,F) is a \*-model if  $0 \in S$ , \* is a function on S such that 0\*=0, x\*\*=x and F is a value function on S. The recursive valuation rules for &, v,  $\sim$  are as for r\*-models, but  $\rightarrow$  is dealt with by the rule:  $x \models_Q A \rightarrow B$  iff for all y in S, if  $y \models_Q A$  then  $y \models_Q B$ . A formula A is \*-valid if  $0 \models_Q A$  for all \*-models. A first-degree formula is one which contains no nested arrows.

Theorem. If A is a first-degree formula, then  $\frac{1}{R}$  A iff A is \*-valid.

Proof: A proof of this theorem is to be found in Routley \*. It may also be derived by combining the completeness results of Belnap 1967 with the representation theorem of Białnycki-Birula and Rasiowa 1957.

In view of the above theorem all that remains to be shown is that a fdf (first-degree formula) is r\*-valid iff \*-valid. The implication from right to left is trivial. Now let A be a \*-invalid fdf, so that A is falsified in a \*-model Q=(S,0,\*,F). Let f be any one-one map of (S,0) into a set semilattice S´. For xef(S), let x\*´ = f((f^{-1}(x))\*), xeF´\_k iff  $f^{-1}(x)eF_k$ . For x in S´-f(S), let x\*=x, xeF´\_k iff  $0eF_k$ . Then Q´=(S´,\*´,F´) is an r\*-model. We observe that for B a zero-degree formula,  $x \not\models 0$  iff  $fx \not\models 0$  B and for x in S´-f(S),  $fx \not\models 0$  iff  $fx \not\models 0$  B. It follows that if B is a fdf,  $fx \not\models 0$  B iff  $fx \not\models 0$  B. Hence, the \*-invalid formula A is falsified in Q´. Thus we have shown that the r\*-valid fdfs coincide exactly with those provable in R.

However, when we go beyond the first-degree fragment even semantic consistency fails. The schemata  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow .B \rightarrow A$  (contraposition) and  $A \rightarrow A \rightarrow A$  (reductio) are both r\*-invalid, though they are both axiom schemata of T. Let  $S=\{0,a,b,c\}$ , let  $\cup$  and \* be defined by the tables

U	Oabc	*	
0	Оавс	0	0
а	аасс	а	Ъ
b	bcbc		а
С	сссс	c	С

and let  $F_1 = \{b\}$ ,  $F_2 = \{c\}$ . Then Q = (S, \*, F) is an r\*-model which falsifies both  $P_2 \rightarrow {}^{\wedge}P_1 \rightarrow {}^{\wedge}P_1 \rightarrow {}^{\wedge}P_2$  and  $P_1 \rightarrow {}^{\wedge}P_1 \rightarrow {}^{\wedge}P_1$ .

Of course, it is possible to postulate a variety of negation for which these two principles are assured. Q=(S,C,F) is an rf-model

if (S,F) is an r-model and C is a subset of S. The valuation rule for negation is:

( $^{\circ}f$ ):  $x \models_{\overline{Q}} ^{\circ}A$  iff for all y in S either not  $y \models_{\overline{Q}} ^{\circ}A$  or  $x \cup y$  is in C.

The rf-valid formulas in which only  $\rightarrow$  and  $^{\circ}$  appear can be axiomatized by adding reductio and contraposition to  $R_{I}$ . Let S, F be as in 1.3, and let x be in C iff for some A, A is in x and for some ordering  $x \sim \{A\}$  of  $x \sim \{A\}$ ,  $x \sim \{A\}$   $x \sim \{A\}$   $x \sim \{A\}$  is then easy to show that (S,C,F) is a characteristic model for this axiomatization.

The rule ( $\sim$ f) invalidates principles like  $\sim$ A $\rightarrow$ A, Av $\sim$ A and  $\sim$ (A&B) $\rightarrow$ . $\sim$ Av $\sim$ B; in general, no formula is rf-valid which is not provable in the minimal logic of Johansson. This fact is incompatible with logics like E and R which contain theorems pointing towards a classical or non-constructive interpretation of negation.

We have so far failed to find an extension of the concept of r-validity suitable for such logics as the full system R. If could be that we have not been ingenious enough. However, it is possible to show that on certain plausible assumptions this is not the case. A simple argument shows that if the class of possible extensions is limited in a fairly weak way no suitable extension exists. Let us say that a model (Q,T) is an expansion of an r-model if Q is an r-model and T is a sequence of relations and functions defined on S, the domain of Q. Now let us suppose that the concept of r-validity has been extended in the following sense: a class of models -- call them rn-models -- has been defined, each rn-model being an expansion of an r-model, and the consequence relation relative to an rn-model has been defined, leaving the consequence definitions unchanged for the positive connectives.

Further, let it be the case that each r-model has an expansion which is an rn-model. Then not all theorems of R are rn-valid. The reason is that if the concept of r-validity is extended as above, then every rn-valid negation-free formula is also r-valid. However, if all theorems of R are rn-valid, since the schema (D) must also be rn-valid, then (by some simple manipulations) the schema  $((A\&B \rightarrow C)\&(D \rightarrow B))\rightarrow (A\&D \rightarrow C)$  must be rn-valid. It is not, however, r-valid, which contradicts the original supposition. Hence, any extension of the positive semantics satisfying the stated conditions must fail to validate some theorems of R.

So far we have discussed only the technical aspects of an attempt to extend the notion of consequence to include negation. A philosophical analysis may disclose some of the deeper reasons underlying the purely formal difficulties discussed above. Let us call the negation operators whose valuation rules are ( $^{\circ}$ c), ( $^{\circ}$ \*) and  $({}^{\circ}f)$  c-negation (classical negation), \*-negation and f-negation (constructive negation) respectively. Of these three, f-negation has an immediate intuitive interpretation. The meaning of the constructive negation operator may be summed up by saying that A is a consequence of x just in case A is refutable from x (Curry 1963, Ch. 6). A sentence A is refutable from a piece of information x just in case an obvious absurdity (e.g. "1=2") can be deduced from A and x jointly. What is considered to be obviously absurd will depend on context. In any case, if we read "x is in C" as "an obvious absurdity is deducible from C" then the above discussion exactly describes the content of the rule ( $\circ$ f).

It is important not to confuse refutability with non-deducibility. For instance, it is clear that

O⊨ Xanofon Xatjoules likes lobster is false. On the other hand we cannot say that Xanofon is <u>not</u> fond of lobster, given no information about Xanofon and his preferences. This is a distinction familiar from intuitionism — from the constructive point of view an undecided conjecture is neither true (provable) nor false (refutable).

Varieties of negation seem by contrast to be lacking in intuitive content, at least within the framework of the informal interpretation which we have developed in conjunction with the formal semantics. C-negation interprets negation in terms of non-deducibility. It is clear from the example of the last paragraph that this is quite implausible in the present framework. Similar criticism applies to \*-negation. The requirement 0\*=0 (which is needed to validate classical tautologies like Av-A) shows that at least in the case of 0, refutability is interpreted as non-deducibility, so the argument again applies.

This philosophical analysis does appear to provide a partial explanation for the results of our purely formal investigations. The philosophical analysis, however, is only as good as the set of concepts and presuppositions in which it is conducted. It is possible that a quite different array of informal concepts exists within which \*-negation would appear as the most natural analysis of negation.

If the basic semantical concept is that of a possible world,

then the rule of c-negation is the only possible choice. The rule (\*\u03b4\u03b4) seems to be closer to the classical than the constructive approach. This fact suggests reinterpreting the elements of an r\*-model as possible worlds rather than pieces of information, 0 being interpreted as the actual world and "x \u22a4A" being read as "A is true in world x." Or rather, one wishes to say that the elements of an r\*-model are almost possible worlds; those elements x for which x\*=x are possible in the sense of being actualisable, while those for which x\*\u03a4x are conceivable if not actualisable, as they follow certain regular laws in spite of being inconsistent or incomplete. This, at least, corresponds to the interpretation given to the rule (\*\u03b4) in Routley & Routley\*. However, although this interpretation has a certain plausibility, it is difficult to see what meaning can be attached to the \u03b4 or \*operators. Nor is it easy to see in what sense inconsistent "worlds" are conceivable.

Routley and Meyer, using a valuation rule for implication which is a generalization of the rules used above and the rule ( $^{\circ}$ \*) for negation, have succeeded in providing completeness proofs for R, T and other relevant logics. The reader is referred to Routley and Meyer \*, \*\*, \*\*\* for the details of these and other important results.

#### 10.0 PARADOXES OF IMPLICATION

The systems of intensional logic were expressly devised to avoid the so-called "paradoxes of material implication." A semantical analysis of these systems should throw light on these paradoxes, and on the reasons underlying their acceptance or rejection.

Anderson and Belnap \* distinguish fallacies of relevance and fallacies of modality. The archetypical examples of the former and the latter respectively are:

#2. 
$$A \rightarrow A \rightarrow A \rightarrow A$$

In terms of our semantics a fallacy of relevance might be defined as a theorem of intuitionistic logic which depends essentially on the condition  $K(\S2.7)$ . A fallacy of modality may be defined as a formula which is valid only when the structure of possible worlds is ignored. Further categories of fallacy can be distinguished fallacies of <u>consistency</u> could be defined as those formulas which would be valid only if inconsistent pieces of information were not admitted, for instance  $(A\&A) \rightarrow B$ . Fallacies of completeness could be defined as those which depend on the condition that all pieces of information — or possible worlds — have as consequence every statement or its negation; an example would be  $A\rightarrow.BvA$ .

These categories of fallacies are mutually independent.

We can add a consistency requirement to the definition of an rf-model,
thus producing a logic which is a relevant version of intuitionistic

rather than the Kolmogorov/Johansson minimal logic. This logic has none of the categories of fallacy save those of consistency and modality. A similar version of ef-models would produce a logic with fallacies of consistency alone. In possible-world semantics for modal logic we may replace the classical negation rule by (\*\(\frac{1}{2}\)), thus producing a logic which lacks paradoxes of consistency and completeness, but contains fallacies of relevance. Routley \* carries out this proposal in detail for the case of the modal logic S3.

Noting that the set of rf-valid formulas contains fallacies of modality without any from the other categories, we may conclude that each variety of fallacy with the possible exception of fallacies of completeness can be incorporated in a coherent system which excludes all other categories of fallacy.

In any case, the analysis given above indicates that there are at least two intuitions underlying the rejection of the fallacies. That is, the rejection of the rule K as governing the consequence relation, and the acceptance of "badly behaved" (i.e. inconsistent or incomplete) elements in a model appear to be distinct commitments.

Our view on the validity of the paradoxes, then, may depend on what we require our logic to do. In mathematical argument, for instance, we make the idealising assumption that our reasoning does not lead to contradictions, so ruling out contradictory pieces of information. However, if we were investigating the formal logic of knowledge and belief, inconsistent pieces of information would be of great interest and importance. The paradoxes of relevance similarly may or may not be viewed as important depending on our purpose. From the classical point of view a mathematical theorem is a self-sufficient truth -- how we establish its truth is of no importance provided the arguments are sound. From this point of view to infer "If B then A" from "A" is not unsound, though somewhat pointless. However, there is another point of view on mathematical statements, that of intuitionism. Intuitionistically, a mathematical statement is not a self-sufficient entity -- it is rather a highly compressed and inadequate shorthand indication that a certain construction has been effected (Heyting 1956, p. 8). The classical view of logic is that it is made up of statements which are true under all possible circumstances; in contrast, the logical truths of intuitionism represent proofs and methods of construction applicable in all contexts. If, then, we regard the purpose of a logical calculus as the representation of constructions or proofs rather than truths, it is clear that the stronger a logic is (from the classical point of view) the less adequate it is from our point of view. If we allow the rule of weakening, we "blur" the representation of proofs so far as to obscure what premisses are actually used in an argument, and form its core. It can be plausibly argued along these lines that the most adequate logic, from the point of view of proof representation, would be something like  $R_{123}$ . Although excessively weak from the classical standpoint,  $R_{123}$  exactly represents proofs in the sense that a theorem of this logic displays exactly the number and order of the non-logical premisses used in a proof. To put it another way, if we adopt the intuitionistic viewpoint with regard to logic, the omission of the paradoxes of relevance appears not as an arbitrary excision of oddseeming but harmless principles, but as a natural consequence of the

attempt to represent proofs and constructions as accurately as possible in a formal system.

## 11.0 MANY-VALUED LOGICS

## 11.1 Introduction

Developments in model theory over the past two decades have shown the fruitfulness in non-standard logic of the general concept of a "model-structure" consisting of "points of reference" or "indices" at which formulas are evaluated (for a general formulation see Cresswell 1971, Montague 1968). In view of these develments, it is surprising that the many-valued logics of Lukasiewicz have not been fitted into this general framework, as they were perhaps the first non-standard logics to be investigated in depth. In the present section we attempt to fill this gap by presenting a tense-logical interpretation of Lukasiewicz's matrices, incidentally revealing a surprisingly close connection between these matrices and our earlier semantical analyses of implication and negation.

## 11.2 Model theory

For neN let  $S_n = \{x \in N : o \le x \le n\}$ . A <u>valuation over  $S_n$  is a function F defined on N such that</u>

- (i)  $F_{k} \subseteq S_{n}$
- (ii) If  $x \in F_k$ ,  $y \in S_n$  then  $y \in F_k$ .

- 1.  $x = \frac{F}{n} Pk \text{ iff } x \in F_k$
- 2.  $x \mid \frac{F}{n} \sim A$  iff it is not the case that  $(n-x) \mid \frac{F}{n} \mid A$
- 3.  $x \models \frac{F}{n} A \rightarrow B$  iff for all y in  $S_n$ , if x+y is in  $S_n$  and  $y \models \frac{F}{n}$  A,

then  $(x+y) = \frac{F}{n} B$ .

<u>LEMMA</u>. If  $x = \frac{F}{n}$  A and  $x \le y$  the  $y = \frac{F}{n}$  A.

<u>Proof.</u> By induction on the complexity of A, using the fact that if  $x \le y$  then  $x - y \le n - x$  and  $x + z \le y + z$ .

Note that if, following Lukasiewicz, we define  $A \lor B$  as  $(A \to B) \to B$  and A & B as  $( \land A \lor \land B)$  then the derived semantical conditions are

4. 
$$x \nmid \frac{F}{n} A \lor B$$
 iff  $x \nmid \frac{F}{n} A$  or  $x \nmid \frac{F}{n} B$ ,

5. 
$$x \mid \frac{F}{n}$$
 A&B iff  $x \mid \frac{F}{n}$  A and  $x \mid \frac{F}{n}$  B.

A formula A is n-valid,  $\frac{1}{n}$  A, if  $0 \mid \frac{F}{n}$  A for all valuations F over  $S_n$ , and  $\omega$ -valid,  $\frac{1}{10}$  A, if  $\frac{1}{n}$  A for all n.

## 11.3 Informal Explanation

The elements of  $S_n$  can be regarded as moments of time, with n, the last element in  $S_n$ , some fixed future date, while 0 is interpreted as the present moment. The statement "x  $\frac{F}{n}$  A" can be read "A is assertable at moment x." A proposition may or may not be assertable at a given moment; for instance, a proposition about some future event may or may not be assertable now. However, if A is assertable now it is assertable at all later times. This means that in the present context we do not think of propositions as temporally indefinite (e.g. "Abraham Lincoln is President now") but as temporally definite (e.g. "Abraham Lincoln is President in 1971 A.D.") So far, our informal explanation is in line with the philosophical motivation given in Mukasiewicz 1930. The connectives  $\rightarrow$  and  $\sim$ , however, do not appear to correspond to the standard interpretations of implication and negation. The standard interpretation would be embodied in the rules:

# 11.4 Equivalence of model theory and matrices

The n+2-valued matrices of Łukasiewicz, neN are defined as follows. The space of truth-values is  $S_{n+1}$ . A function v defined on the formulas in  $\rightarrow$ ,  $\sim$  is a <u>valuation in  $L_{n+2}$  if  $v(Pk) \in S_{n+1}$  for all k and  $v(A \rightarrow B)$  is  $\min(n+1,(n+1)-v(A)+v(B))$ ,  $v(\sim A)$  is (n+1)-v(A). A formula A is valid in  $L_{n+2}$ ,  $L_{n+2} \models A$ , if v(A)=n+1 for all valuations v in  $L_{n+2}$ . By Thm. 17(c) of Lukasiewicz and Tarski 1930, A is valid in  $L_{n+2}$ , the infinite-valued logic of Lukasiewicz, if  $L_{n+2} \models A$  for all n; we write  $L_{n+2} \models A$  when this obtains.</u>

Theorem. Let v be a valuation in  $\mathbb{Z}_{n+2}$ . Let  $F_k^{v} = \{x \in S_n : x \ge (n+1) - v(P_k)\}$ Then for x in  $S_n$ ,  $x = \frac{F^v}{n}$  A if and only if  $x \ge (n+1) - v(A)$ . Proof:

(i) 
$$x \mid \frac{F^{V}}{n} P_{k}^{V}$$
 iff  $x \in F_{k}^{V}$   
iff  $x > (n+1) - v(P_{k})$ .

Now assume the theorem for A and B.

(ii) 
$$x \models_{\overline{n}}^{\overline{F}} {}^{V} \wedge A$$
 iff not  $(n-x) \models_{\overline{n}}^{\overline{F}} {}^{V} \wedge A$   
iff not  $(n-x) \geq (n+1) - v(A)$   
iff  $(n-x) < (n+1) - v(A)$   
iff  $(n-x) < v(A)$   
iff  $x \geq (n+1) - v(A)$ 

(iii) (a) Let  $v(A) \le v(B)$ , so that  $v(A \rightarrow B) = n+1$ . Then for  $x+y \in S_n$ , if y = v(A) = v(A), so  $y \ge (n+1) - v(B)$ , hence  $(x+y) \ge (n+1) - v(B)$ , so (x+y) = v(A). Hence for any  $x \in S_n$ , x = v(A) = v(A).

(b) Let 
$$v(A)>(B)$$
.  $x \models \frac{F^{V}}{n} A \rightarrow B$  iff for all  $y \in Sn$ , if  $x+y \in Sn$  and  $y \geqslant (n+1) - v(A)$  then  $(x+y) \geqslant (n+1) - v(B)$ , iff  $x \geqslant (n+1) - ((n+1) - v(A) + v(B))$  iff  $x \geqslant (n+1) - v(A \rightarrow B)$ .

This completes the proof.

Corollary. 
$$\sqsubseteq_{n} A \text{ iff } L_{n+2} \vdash_{A} A$$
 $\sqsubseteq_{\omega} A \text{ iff } L_{n+2} \vdash_{A} A.$ 

## 11.5 Generalizations.

The semantics for pure Lukasiewicz implication can be extended immediately to more general models. Let S be a non-empty subset of the non-negative reals such that if x, yeS and x v then y-xeS. A valuation F over S must satisfy the condition that  $F_k$  is either empty or is  $\{x \in S : x \geqslant a\}$  for some a in S. Truth at a point in S and validity in S are defined exactly as for  $S_n$ . It is then not difficult to check that

all pure implicational theorems of  $\mathbb{Z}_{\mathcal{N}_{o}}$  are valid in S, by using the axiomatization of Rose 1956. It may be noted that the restriction on valuations is essential. If we merely require as for  $S_{n}$  that if  $x \in \mathbb{F}_{k}$ ,  $x \leqslant y$ ,  $y \in S$  then  $y \in \mathbb{F}_{k}$  then not all theorems of  $\mathbb{Z}_{\mathcal{N}_{o}}$  are validated. Let S be the set of all non-negative reals,  $F_{o} = \{x : x > 1\}$ ,  $F_{1} = \{x : x \geqslant 2\}$ . Then  $1 \models F \in \mathbb{F}_{o} \cap \mathbb{F}_{1} \to \mathbb{F}_{1}$ , but not  $1 \models F \in \mathbb{F}_{o} \cap \mathbb{F}_{1} \to \mathbb{F}_{0} \to \mathbb{F}_{0}$ , so the  $\mathbb{Z}_{\mathcal{N}_{o}} \to \mathbb{Z}_{0}$  valid formula

 $((P_0 \rightarrow P_1) \rightarrow P_1) \rightarrow ((P_1 \rightarrow P_0) \rightarrow P_0)$  is falsified in S under F.

#### 12.0 ANALYTIC IMPLICATION

#### 12.1 Introduction

A well-known argument of C.I. Lewis (Lewis and Langford 1932 pp. 250-51) purports to derive an arbitrary proposition from a contradictory proposition. Indeed, if some apparently harmless principles of inference involving conjunction, disjunction and negation are accepted,  $P\&VP\to Q$  must also be accepted as a law of logic. In the systems so far discussed, this conclusion has been avoided by a rejection of the law of disjunctive syllogism. As we have seen, this is not simply an ad hoc device, but is in fact the only choice possible in a semantical framework allowing inconsistent pieces of information.

An alternative approach is to deny the validity of the principle  $A \rightarrow .A \lor B$ . This seems to have much to recommend it; this principle is precisely the one which introduces the irrelevant conclusion Q into the argument. The law of disjunctive addition can be rejected according to a Kantian view of implication (definition of "analytic", CPR A7, B11). Kant's definitions are clearly meant to apply only to statements of subject/predicate form. However, we may extend the concept of analyticity to include entailment. Under this view, the consequent of an entailment  $A \rightarrow B$  should simply "unpack" the antecedent, so that every concept occurring in B should also occur in A. Under this condition  $A \rightarrow .A \lor B$  is indeed invalid. The paradox of relevance  $A \rightarrow .B \rightarrow A$  is also invalid, as well as  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow .B \rightarrow C \rightarrow .A \rightarrow C$ , and any formula  $A \rightarrow B$  in which a variable occurs in B but not in A.

## 12.2 Parry's system and others.

A system embodying these ideas is set forth in Parry 1933, who calls it a system of "Analytic Implication". The primitive connectives are  $\rightarrow$ , & and  $\circ$ , with  $\leftrightarrow$ ,  $\vee$  and  $\supset$  defined as usual. The axioms of Parry's system are all the instances of the following schemata.

- A1.  $A&B \rightarrow B&A$
- A2.  $A \rightarrow A&A$
- A3. A→ **~**A
- A4. VA→A
- A5.  $A&(B\lorC)\rightarrow (A\&B)\lor(A\&C)$
- A6.  $A \lor (B \& ^B) \rightarrow A$
- A7.  $(A \rightarrow B) & (B \rightarrow C) \rightarrow .A \rightarrow C$
- A8.  $(A \rightarrow B\&C) \rightarrow .A \rightarrow C$
- A9.  $(A \rightarrow B) \& (C \rightarrow D) \rightarrow .A \& C \rightarrow B \& D$
- A10.  $(A \rightarrow B) \& (C \rightarrow D) \rightarrow .A \lor C \rightarrow B \lor D$
- A11.  $A \rightarrow B \rightarrow .A \supset B$
- A12.  $(A \leftrightarrow B) \& f(A) \rightarrow f(B)$
- A13.  $f(A) \rightarrow A \rightarrow A$

The sole rule of inference is <u>modus ponens</u>. Parry 1968 adds the rule of adjunction and the further schemata

A14. 
$$( \sim M \sim A \& (A \rightarrow B) ) \rightarrow \sim M \sim B$$

A15. 
$$\wedge (A \supset B) \rightarrow \wedge (A \rightarrow B)$$
,

where MA is defined as  $^{\wedge}(A \rightarrow ^{\wedge}A)$ . The independence of Al5 is proved in Dunn \*.

Parry proves of his system that it satisfies what he calls the

Proscriptive Principle; no formula A→B holds if B has a variable not occurring in A. Gödel in the discussion following Parry 1933 raised the question of completeness for Parry's system:

'"p analytically implies q" can perhaps be interpreted as follows: "q is derivable from p and the axioms of logic and contains no concepts other than those in p" and it may be that after this definition has been made more precise a completeness proof for Parry's axioms could be obtained, in the sense that all propositions which are valid for the above interpretation of —are provable.'

The system consisting of the schemata Al - Al5 and the two rules of inference we shall call ASI, or the system of Analytic Strict Implication. The adjective "strict" is used because ASI is contained in Lewis' system of strict implication S4. ASI may be "demodalized" by adding the postulate

A16. 
$$A \rightarrow . A \rightarrow A$$

which is not a theorem of S4. The resulting system may be called the system of analytic classical implication (ACI). These two systems conform in their separate ways to the definition of validity proposed by Gödel.

The system which forms the main object of our investigations is formed by "remodalizing" ACI by the addition of an explicit necessity operator N. We add to ACI the axiom schemata

A17. 
$$N(A \rightarrow B) \rightarrow .NA \rightarrow NB$$

A18.  $N(A&B) \rightarrow NA&NB$ 

A19.  $NA \rightarrow A$ 

A20. NA-NNA

A21.  $(A \rightarrow A) \rightarrow N(A \rightarrow A)$ 

and the rule of necessitation (from A to infer NA). To Al2 we add the restriction that in f(A) there is no occurrence of A within the scope of a necessity operator. This system we shall refer to as AIN, or Analytic Implication with Necessity.

We now list some theorems of AIN, referring the reader in most cases to Dunn \* for proofs.

 $\underline{\text{T1.}}$   $B \rightarrow .A \rightarrow A$ , where B is a formula in which occur all variables in A.

Proof: As in Dunn \* T4, using A17, A21.

T2. A, where A is a classical tautology. Let us write S A if A is derivable from S and the axioms of AIN by the rules of modus ponens and adjuntion.

T3. If S,  $A \vdash B$ , then  $S \vdash A \supset B$ 

Proof: By T2.

<u>T4</u>. If S,  $A \vdash B$  and every variable which occurs in B also occurs in A then  $S \vdash A \rightarrow B$ .

 $\underline{T5}$ . A&B  $\rightarrow$ . A $\leftrightarrow$ B, provided A and B contain exactly the same set of variables.

Proof: By T4.

 $\underline{\text{T6}}$ .  $NA_1 \& \dots \& NA_n \rightarrow N(A_1 \& \dots \& A_n)$ 

Proof: By A18.

T7.  $N(A\supset B)\supset .NA\supset NB$ 

Proof: By T3, A18.

T8.  $^{\wedge}A_{\bullet}^{\wedge}B_{\bullet}(^{\wedge}A \rightarrow ^{\wedge}B) \rightarrow .A \rightarrow B$ 

Proof: See Dunn T24.

T9.  $A\&B\&(^{\wedge}A\rightarrow^{\wedge}B)\rightarrow .A\rightarrow B$ 

<u>Proof:</u> Assume  $A\&B\&(\land A \to \land B)$ . Then B, and  $(\land A \to \land B)$  by the conjunction axioms. Now  $\land A \to \land A$  by A3, A4, A7, hence  $\land A \to \land A\& \land B$  by A2, A7, A9. Hence  $\land A \leftrightarrow \land A\& \land B$  by adjunction. Now we have  $A \lor B \to B$  by T4, hence  $A \to B$  by A3, A4, T7 and A12. Hence T9 follows by T4. The author is indebted to Professor J.M. Dunn for this proof (personal communication).

 $\underline{T10}$ .  $^{\wedge}A&B&(A\rightarrow B)\rightarrow .^{\wedge}A\rightarrow B$ 

Proof: By Dunn \* T26, and T9 above.

T11.  $^{\wedge}A^{\wedge}B^{\wedge}(A \rightarrow B) \rightarrow (^{\wedge}A \rightarrow ^{\wedge}B)$ 

Proof: By T9, A3, A4.

A set S of sentences is <u>consistent</u> if for no B is it the case that  $S \vdash B \& B$ , <u>maximally consistent</u> if S is consistent, but is not properly contained in any consistent set.

T12. Every consistent set of sentences is contained in a maximally consistent set.

<u>Proof</u>: By the methods of the corresponding theorem for classical logic.

T13. If M is a maximally consistent set, then for any A,B, (i) A $\epsilon$ M iff M $\vdash$ A, (ii)  $\sim$ A $\epsilon$ M iff A $\epsilon$ M, (iii) A $\epsilon$ B $\epsilon$ M iff A $\epsilon$ M or B $\epsilon$ M, (iv) A $\epsilon$ B $\epsilon$ M iff A $\epsilon$ M and B $\epsilon$ M.

Proof: By T2.

11.2 Semantics for analytic implication

 $Q=(I,W,\omega,\leqslant,R,F) \text{ is an } a\omega\text{-model if (i) I is a non-empty set,}$  (ii)  $\omega\in W$ , (iii)  $\leqslant$  is a transitive reflexive relation defined on W, (iv)  $R\subseteq W\times I$ , (v) F is a value function on  $I\cup W$ . Relative to Q two "consequence" relations are defined recursively, one having I as

domain, the other W.

For x in I,

x = 0  $P_k$  iff  $x \in F_k$ ,

 $x \models A\&B \text{ iff } x \models A \text{ or } x \models B$ 

 $x \mid_{\overline{0}} {}^{\circ}A \text{ iff } x \mid_{\overline{0}} A,$ 

 $x \models \overline{Q} A \rightarrow B \text{ iff } x \models \overline{Q} A \text{ or } x \models \overline{Q} B$ 

x = NA iff x = A.

For u in W,

u lo Pk iff ueFk,

 $u \parallel_{\overline{Q}} A\&B$  iff  $u \parallel_{\overline{Q}} A$  and  $u \parallel_{\overline{Q}} B$ ,

 $u \not\models_{\overline{Q}} {}^{\sim}\!\!A \text{ iff not } u \not\models_{\overline{Q}} A$ 

 $u \Vdash_{\overline{Q}} A \rightarrow B \text{ iff for all } x \text{ in I such that } uRx, \text{ if } x \models_{\overline{Q}} B \text{ then } x \models_{\overline{Q}} A, \text{ and if } u \models_{\overline{Q}} A \text{ then } u \models_{\overline{Q}} B.$ 

 $u \parallel_{\overline{Q}} NA$  iff for all v such that  $u \leqslant v$ ,  $v \parallel_{\overline{Q}} A$ .

 $Q=(I,\omega,F)$  is an a-model if I and F are as in an aw-model. The consequence relation relative to I is defined as above, save that the clauses for N are omitted, and the clause for  $\rightarrow$  is simplified to read:

 $\omega |_{\overline{Q}} \xrightarrow{A \to B} \text{ iff for all } x \text{ in } I, \text{ if } x |_{\overline{Q}} \xrightarrow{B} \text{ then } x |_{\overline{Q}} \xrightarrow{A}, \text{ and if } \omega |_{\overline{Q}} \xrightarrow{A} \text{ then } \omega |_{\overline{Q}} \xrightarrow{B}.$ 

A formula A is <u>true</u> in a model Q if  $\omega |_{\overline{Q}}$  A and <u>aw-valid</u> (a-valid) if true in all aw-models (a-models).

These semantics should be understood as an attempt to make precise Gödel's informal definition of validity. In an a $\omega$ -model I is to be interpreted informally as a set of concepts, while W is a set of possible worlds,  $\omega$  being the real world. The relation  $\leqslant$  is one of

relative possibility, while for usW, xsI, "uRx" is to be read as "x is a concept conceivable in world u." For x in I, "x  $\not\models Q$  A" is to be read "concept x occurs in sentence A," while "u  $\not\models Q$  A" is to be read "A is true in possible world u." Under this interpretation the definitions are self-explanatory. The only one worthy of comment is the rule for  $\rightarrow$  relative to W. According to this rule,  $A \rightarrow B$  is true in world u iff (i) B follows from A in the sense of classical logic and (ii) every conceivable concept (that is, every concept conceivable in world u) which occurs in B also occurs in A. Thus the concepts of aw-validity and a-validity seem to be acceptable as a way of making Gödel's idea precise.

## 12.4 Completeness

Theorem 1. A formula of AIN is provable in AIN iff it is a  $\omega$ -valid. Theorem 2. A formula of ACI is provable in ACI iff it is a-valid.

It is left to the reader to show semantic consistency for AIN. We now proceed to show completeness.

Let A be unprovable in AIN. Then  $\{^{\wedge}A\}$  is consistent, so by T12,  $^{\wedge}A$  is in some maximally consistent set M. We shall show A invalid by constructing an  $a\omega$ -model Q in which  $\omega$  is M and for any B,  $\omega \parallel_{\widehat{O}} B$  iff BeM.

Let W be the set of all maximally consistent sets of sentences. For u,veW let u v hold iff for any A if NA eu then A ev. For an arbitrary set of sentences x let uIx hold iff (i) x  $\leq$  u, (ii) if A  $\rightarrow$  B eu and A ex then B ex, (iii) if A, B ex then A & B ex. Let uR(v,x) hold iff u=v and vIx. Let  $f_u(A)$  be A or A according to whether A is or is not in u (note that  $f_u(A)$  eu by T13). Let  $f_u(A)$  be in  $f_k$  iff

 $\mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{u}}(\mathbf{A})$  is not in x, and let  $\mathbf{u} \epsilon \mathbf{F}_{k}$  iff  $\mathbf{P}_{k} \epsilon \mathbf{u}.$ 

By Al9,  $\leqslant$  is reflexive, and by A20  $\leqslant$  is transitive, so Q=(I,W,M, $\leqslant$ ,R,F) is an aw-model. Completeness is a consequence of the following

<u>LEMMA.</u> For any A, (a)  $(u,x) \models A$  iff  $f_u(A) \not\in x$ , (B)  $u \models A$  iff Asu.

<u>Proof of (a).</u> Part (a) holds for propositional variables by definition.

The inductive cases all follow from T5. We illustrate by treating the case of  $\rightarrow$ . Firstly, note that

 $f_u(A) \& f_u(B) \& f_u(A \to B) \to .f_u(A) \& f_u(B) \longleftrightarrow f_u(A \to B) \text{ is an instance of T5.}$  Since the antecedent is in u, so is

$$f_u(A) \& f_u(B) \Leftrightarrow f_u(A \rightarrow B)$$
.

Hence:

$$(u,x) \models_{\overline{Q}} A \rightarrow B \text{ iff } (u,x) \models_{\overline{Q}} A \text{ or } (u,x) \models_{\overline{Q}} B$$

$$\text{iff } f_u(A) \notin x \text{ or } f_u(B) \notin x$$

$$\text{iff } f_u(A \rightarrow B) \notin x$$

<u>Proof of (b)</u>. The basis case holds by definition. The inductive steps for & and  $\circ$  follow by T13. It only remains to prove (b) for the case of  $\rightarrow$  and N.

If NA $\epsilon$ u then u $|_{\overline{Q}}$  NA by the definition of  $\leq$ . Conversely, suppose that NA $\epsilon$ u. Consider S={B : NB $\epsilon$ u}. If  $s \cup \{ \land A \}$  were inconsistent, then S $\vdash$ A, so that

$$\vdash B_1 \& \cdots \& B_n \supset A, B_1 \in S,$$

$$\vdash N(B_1 \& \cdots \& B_n \supset A) \text{ by } RN$$

$$\vdash N(B_1 \& \cdots \& B_n) \supset NA \text{ by } T7$$

$$\vdash NB_1 \& \cdots \& NB_n \supset NA \text{ by } T6.$$

But then NA $\epsilon$ u, contrary to assumption. Thus S  $\cup \{ \gamma A \}$  is consistent

and by T12 has a maximally consistent extension v. Hence, for some v, usv but not  $v \models_{\overline{0}} A$ , so that not  $u \models_{\overline{0}} A$ , as was to be proved.

Now for the case of  $\longrightarrow$ . Firstly, let  $A \to B \in u$ . Then by A11, T13, either Afu or BEu, so by inductive assumption, either not  $u|_{\overline{0}}$  A or  $u|_{\overline{0}}$  B. Let uIx. We observe that for any u,

 $f_u(A)\&f_u(B)\&(A\to B)\to f_u(A)\to f_u(B)$  is provable by T9, T10. Hence if  $f_u(A)_E x$ ,  $f_u(B)_E x$  so that if  $(u,x) \not\models B$  then  $(u,x) \not\models A$ , by part (a). It follows that  $u \not\models A\to B$ . Secondly, let  $A\to B \not\models u$ , but either not  $u \not\models A$  or  $u \not\models B$ . We aim to show that for some (u,x) such that uR(u,x),  $(u,x) \not\models B$  but not  $(u,x) \not\models A$ . Let a be the set  $\{C: f_u(A)\to C \in u\}$ . By A7, A9, uIa, so uR(u,a). Evidently,  $f_u(A) \in a$ , so  $(u,a) \not\models A$  is false, by part (a) of the lemma. Now by T8, A16,

 $f_u(A) \& f_u(B) \& (f_u(A) \to f_u(B)) \to .A \to B \text{ is provable, since either}$   $f_u(A) \text{ is $^{\wedge}A$ or $f_u(B)$ is $B$. Hence, if $f_u(B)$ is a then $f_u(A) \to f_u(B)$ is $a \to B$ is provable, since either $f_u(A) \to f_u(B)$ is $a \to B$ 

Now since  ${}^{\circ}A \in M$ , it follows that  $M \not \mid_{\mathbb{Q}} A$  is false, so A is refutable in an aw-model.

The proof of Theorem 2 proceeds just as for Theorem 1, but omitting any references to W,  $\leq$  or R.

We conclude this section with a conjecture concerning the completeness of ASI. For A a formula of ASI, we define  $A^N$ , the translation of A into the language of AIN as follows.  $P_k^N$  is  $P_k$ ,  $(A\&B)^N$  is  $(A^N\&B^N)$ ,  $(A^N\&B^N)$ ,  $(A^N\&B^N)$ ,  $(A^N\&B^N)$  is  $(A^N\&B^N)$ . We conjecture that ASI iff AIN, so that ASI is complete with respect to a version of the semantics of the last section.

#### 12.5 Decidability

12.6 Other analytic systems

Decidability can be proved for AIN by the method of <u>fil</u>trations due to Lemmon and Scott, and applied in Segerberg 1968a and 1968b. As the application of this method to AIN does not involve any new ideas in principle, we leave the proof to the reader.

It is clear that the model-theoretic ideas applied in the preceding sections are by no means limited to ACI, ASI and AIN, but are applicable to a wide variety of systems. Thus ACI and AIN are "analytic" versions of classical logic and S4 respectively. The semantics of AIN obviously generalizes to the semantics of other modal systems like M, S2, S3, S5 (Parry 1968 considers an analytic of S5). Similarly, analytic versions of E,R etc. are possible. For instance, in an analytic version of  $R_{\rm I}$ ,  $A \rightarrow A \rightarrow A$  is provable but

## 12.7 Relation to Dunn's results.

 $A \rightarrow .A \rightarrow B \rightarrow B$  is not.

It should be emphasized that the completeness and decidability results given for ACI above are not new. Dumn in \* proves a completeness result for ACI relative to certain algebras which he calls Parry matrices; he also proves decidability for ACI by algebraic matrix mathods. In the final section of \*, he gives a representation for Parry matrices which he credits to Robert K. Meyer. Apart from inessential details, this representation coincides with the semantical analysis of \$11.2. Furthermore, the completeness proofs presented in preceding sections are essentially adaptations of Dumn's algebraic completeness proofs.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

## ANDERSON, ALAN ROSS

- 1960. "Completeness theorems for the systems E of entailment and EQ of entailment with quantification." Zeitschrift für mathematische Logik und Grundlagen der Mathematik, 6 (1960), pp. 201-216.
- 1963. "Some open problems concerning the system E of entailment."

  Acta philosophica fennica, fasc. 16. Helsinki.
- ANDERSON, ALAN ROSS and BELNAP, NUEL D., JR.
- 1961. "Enthymemes," The journal of philosophy, vol. 58, pp. 713-723.
- 1961a. "The pure calculus of entailment." The journal of symbolic logic, vol. 27, pp. 19-52.
- 1961b. "Tautological entailments." Philosophical studies, vol. 13, vol. 13, pp. 9-24.
- 1963. "First degree entailments." <u>Mathematische</u> <u>annalen</u>, vol. 149, pp. 302-319.
- \*. Entailment. to be published by Princeton University Press,
  Princeton, N.J.
- BELNAP, NUEL D., JR.
- 1959. "The formalization of entailment." Technical Report No. 8,

  Office of Naval Research, Contract No. SAR/Nonr-609(16), New

  Haven.
- 1960a. "A formal analysis of entailment." Technical Report No. 7,

  Contract No. SAR/Nonr-609(16), Office of Naval Research, New

  Haven.
- 1960b. "Entailment and relevance." The journal of symbolic logic, vol. 25, pp. 144-146.

1967. "Intensional models for first degree formulas." The journal of symbolic logic, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 1-22.

BIAKNYCKI-BIRULA, A. and RASIOWA, H.

1957. "On the representation of quasi-Boolean angebras." Bulletin de l'academie Polonaise des sciences. Cl. iii. 5, pp. 259-261. BIRKHOFF, G. and BARTEE, T.C.

1970. Modern applied albebra. New York, McGraw-Hill Book Company. CHURCH, ALONZO

1956. <u>Introduction to mathematical logic. Vol. 1</u>, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.

CRESSWELL, M.J.

1970. "Classical intensional logics." Theoria, vol. 36, pp. 347-372. CURRY, H.B.

1963. <u>Foundations of mathematical logic</u>. McGraw-Hill book company New York.

DUNN, J.M.

- 1970. "Algebraic completeness results for R-mingle and its extensions."

  Journal of symbolic logic, Vol. 35, pp. 1-13.
- \*. "A modification of Parry's analytic implication." Notre Dame journal of formal logic, forthcoming.

HACKING, IAN

1963. "What is strict implication?" The journal of symbolic logic, vol. 28, pp. 51-71.

HEYTING, AREND

1956. Intuitionism. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam.

KRIPKE, S.A.

- 1959. "A completeness theorem in modal logic." The journal of symbolic logic, vol. 24, pp. 1-15.
- 1963. "Semantical analysis of modal logic I." Zeitschrift für mathematische Logik und Grundlagen der Mathematik, vol. 9, pp. 67-96.
- 1965. "Semantical analysis of intuitionistic logic I." Formal

  systems and recursive functions (eds. Crossley-Dummett).

  North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam.

LEWIS, C.I. and LANGFORD, C.H.

1932. Symbolic logic. The Century Company, New York and London. KUKASIEWICZ, J.

1930. "Philosophische Bemerkungen zu mehrwertigen Systemen des

Aussagenkalküls." <u>Comptes rendus des séances de la société</u>

<u>des sciences et des lettres de Varsovie</u>, Cl. iii, 23, pp.51
77; English translation in McCall 1967.

ŁUKASIEWICZ, J. and TARSKI, A.

1930. "Untersuchungen über den Aussagenkalkül." Ibid., Cl. iii, 23, pp. 30-50; English translation in Tarski 1956.

McCALL, S. (editor)

1967. Polish logic 1920-1939. Oxford University Press.

MEREDITH, C.A. and PRIOR, A.N.

1963. "Notes on the axiomatics of the propositional calculus." Notre

Dame journal of formal logic, vol. 4, pp. 171-187.

MONTAGUE, R.M.

1968. "Pragmatics." Contemporary Philosophy (ed. R. Klibansky), pp. 102-21. Florence, La Nuova Italia Editrice. PARRY, W.T.

- 1933. "Ein axiomensystem für eine neue art von implikation (analytische implikation)." Ergebnisse einer mathematischen kolloquiums, vol. 4, pp. 5-6.
- 1968. "The logic of C.I. Lewis." in <u>The philosophy of C.I. Lewis</u>

  (ed. by P.A. Schilpp), pp. 115-154, La Salle, Illinois, Open
  Court.

RESCHER, N.

1969. Many-valued logic. New York, McGraw-Hill Book Company.

ROSE, A.

1956. "Formalisation du calcul propositionnel implicatif à \(\) valeurs de L'ukasiewicz." Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de l'Académie des Sciences, vol. 243, pp. 1183-1185.

ROUTLEY, R.

- \*. "A semantical analysis of implicational system I and of the first degree of entailment," forthcoming.
- \*\*. "Semantical analysis of entailment and relevant implication I."
  Unpublished manuscript.

ROUTLEY, R. and MEYER, R.K.

- \*. "The semantics of entailment I," <u>Truth, syntax</u>, <u>modality</u>, North-Holland, Amsterdam, forthcoming.
- 1972. "The semantics of entailment II." The journal of philosophical logic, vol. 1, no. 1.
- \*\*. "The semantics of entailment III." Forthcoming.

ROUTLEY, R. and ROUTLEY, V.

\*. "The semantics of first-degree entailment," forthcoming.

SCOTT, D.

\*. Lecture delivered to symposium in Berkeley commemorating

Alfred Tarski's 60th birthday, June 1971, to be published

by North-Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam.

SEGERBERG, K.

1968a. "Decidability of S4.1." Theoria, vol. 34, pp. 7-20.

1968b. "Decidability of four modal logics." Theoria, vol. 24, pp. 21-25.

SMILEY, T.

1959. "Entailment and deducibility." <u>Proceedings of the Aristotelian</u> society, vol. 59.

TARSKI, A.

1956. Logic, semantics, metamathematics. Trans. by J.H. Woodger.
Oxford University Press.

URQUHART, A.

- 1971. "Semantics for relevant logics." The journal of symbolic logic, Vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 159-169.
- \*. "Completeness of weak implication," forthcoming in Theoria.

## THE SEMANTICS OF ENTAILMENT

Alasdair Ian Fenton Urquhart, Ph.D.
University of Pittsburgh, 1973

Systems of entailment designed to avoid the "paradoxes of material implication" have been intensively studied by Anderson and Belnap after initial development by Church and Ackermann. However, no systematic semantical theory was developed for these systems. aim of the present study is to provide such a theory for logics related to the systems E and R of Anderson and Belnap. The first part shows how the implicational fragments of E and R and other entailment logics can be analyzed in terms of valuations over a semilattice, interpreted informally as the semilattice of "pieces of information." Completeness proofs are given for these implicational fragments, and also for the fragments which include both conjunction and implication. The second part shows how these completeness results fail to extend to the positive fragments of E and R (containing disjunction) or to the fragments of these systems which contain negation. The third part shows how the many-valued logics of Lukasiewicz can be interpreted so that the semantical conditions on implication and negation bear a striking resemblance to those given earlier for entailment logics. The final section gives a semantical analysis of a different entailment logic, W.T. Parry's system of Analytic Implication. Completeness results are given which extend those of J.M. Dunn in this area.